Helicobacter pylori and faecal calprotectin

in apparently healthy and

HIV-infected Ugandan children

Elin Hestvik



Dissertation for the degree philosophiae doctor (PhD) at the University of Bergen

3.2.2012

Protect our children

Værn om våre barn

Acknowledgements

I am grateful to the University of Bergen Faculty of Medicine and Dentistry for supporting me through this work. The Centre for international health has been a good place to work and has a truly inspiring environment for international thinking. Special thanks to the leader, Rune Nilsen who have been supportive and interested in my work. I would also like to thank the administration, headed by Ingvild Hope and Alette Mykkeltvedt, for their positive attitude and enjoyable lunches.

First and foremost I thank my main supervisor, Professor Thorkild Tylleskär, for believing in my project from the very first day. I thank for the trust, inspiration, scientific training and opportunities I have been given throughout these years. I am deeply grateful for all the support.

I am so grateful I had the opportunity to be supervised by Edda Olafsdottir M.D.,Ph.D. She is an excellent paediatrician and has inspired my clinical work since 2002. She believed in my project and encouraged me to continue when others stopped believing in it. Lena Grahnquist M.D.,Ph.D, at the Karolinska Institutet, Sweden, has been a great inspiration and has inspired my work tremendously with a high level of knowledge of paediatric gastroenterology.

Special and warm thanks to the Ugandan team from which I was privileged to get supervision and with whom I worked. Professor James Tumwine was my supervisor; I will always appreciate his input and reflections. Thanks to Grace Ndeezi who let me stay in her office for 10 weeks during the first survey and for the amazing help in implementing both surveys. To Professor Kaddu-Mulindwa for the highest technical support in his laboratory in both surveys, and for the good moments of "German conversation". Thanks also to Phillipa, Jolly and Hanifa for being my dear friends and for their very generous support during my stays in Uganda.

I am also grateful to the Paediatric Department at Haukeland University Hospital, headed by Britt Skadberg M.D., Ph.D for giving me training in paediatrics and for encouraging research. Thanks also to Professor Lage Aksnes for the inspiring collaboration on faecal calprotectin and Diane Snowdon M.D. for proof reading the English of the papers. Thanks to the fieldworkers and laboratory technicians both in Uganda and Norway.

I will use this opportunity to thank all community leaders, parents and caregivers for making this thesis possible. The biggest thanks to all the children who participated!

I feel privileged to have so many fantastic friends and colleges at CiH, and I would like to thank them all. I also have terrific friends and colleges at the Department of Paediatrics, University Hospital of Bergen; I would like to thank you all!

Thanks go to my family and friends outside CiH. Thanks to Kirsten and Volker Artz for your caring and support. Thanks to my sister Marianne for her interest in my work, and to my nephew Martin for being such a great boy! Mum and Dad for your true love; for always

believing in me and supporting my decisions, and for all the practical assistance through these years.

And to Torsten Artz, my beloved husband; you have always supported me and my ideas. You have given me enormous freedom and support. You have listened carefully to all my complaints, but also taken part in the joyful moments. I will always love you and admire you.

Emma, you are my sunshine and inspiration!

Collaborations

This thesis emerged from the Centre for International Health, Faculty of Medicine and Dentistry, University of Bergen. The exciting collaboration with the Department of Paediatrics and Child Health, Makerere University Medical School, Kampala, Uganda provided the institutional framework for the research environment for the surveys which this thesis has been built. The research consortium for the surveys included additional institutions: Department of Paediatrics, Haukeland University Hospital, Bergen, Norway, Department of Clinical Medicine, University of Bergen, Bergen, Norway and Department of Women's and Children's Health, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden.

The funding of both surveys was provided by the University of Bergen and the GlobVac programme by the Research Council of Norway, grant no 172226 *Focus on Nutrition and Child Health: Intervention Studies in Low-income Countries.*

Table of contents

Acknowledgements	4
Collaborations	7
Table of contents	8
Abbreviations	11
Abstract	12
Résumé in Norwegian	14
Articles in the thesis	17
1 Introduction	19
1.1 Gastrointestinal tract: function and dysfunction	19
1.2 HIV in Ugandan children	20
1.3 Helicobacter pylori	
1.4 Faecal calprotectin	
2 Aim and objectives	
2.1 Overall aim.	
2.2 Specific objectives	
3 Methods	
3.1 Study area and population	
3.2 Design, sampling and data collection	
3.2.2 HIV-infected, HAART naïve children	
3.3 Statistical procedures	
3.3.1 Sample size	
3.3.2 Statistical procedures and data management	
3.4 Helicobacter pylori antigen test	
3.6 Ethical considerations	
4 Summary of results	30
5 Discussion	
5 Discussion	
5.1 Methodological issues	41
5.1.1 Study design	41
5.1.3 The sample size	
5.1.4 Validity	
5.2 Discussion of the findings	
5.2.1 Prevalence of <i>Helicobacter pylori</i>	
5.2.2 Factors associated with <i>Helicobacter pylori</i> colonization	
5.2.3 Concentrations of faceal calprotectin	
5.2.4 Concentrations of faecal calprotectin in children younger than 4 years of age	
6 Research challenges	55
o researen en enanenges	
/ Conclusions	

8 References	59
Original papers I-IV	71
Appendices	

Abbreviations

AIDS	Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome
CD4	Cluster of differentiation 4
CI	Confidence interval
СТ	Computer tomography
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
ESPGHAN	European Society of Paediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition
FC	Faecal calprotectin
GI	Gastrointestinal
HAART	Highly active anti-retroviral therapy
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus
H. pylori	Helicobacter pylori
IBD	Inflammatory bowel disease
IBS	Irritable bowel syndrome
IDC	Infectious disease clinic
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
NASPGHAN	North American Society of Pediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology and
	Nutrition
NEC	Necrotizing enterocolitis
NSAID	Non-steroidal anti inflammatory drug
OI	Opportunistic infections
OR	Odds ratio
PIDC	Paediatric infectious disease clinic
RAP	Recurrent abdominal pain
SD	Standard deviation
VLBW	Very low birth weight babies

Abstract

Gastrointestinal dysfunction, often presenting as diarrhoea, is one of the major causes of morbidity and mortality among children in low-income countries. It is estimated that 56% of child deaths were attributable to malnutrition's potentiating effects in children living in low-income countries. There are numerous gastrointestinal problems in children in low-income countries, in particularly in human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infected children. The gastrointestinal tract is the largest immunological site of the body and HIV infection profoundly impacts on gut function and disease development. Most studies of the gastrointestinal function in patients in low-income countries have been performed among adults.

The objectives of this thesis are: 1) to examine the prevalence of *H. pylori* in apparently healthy urban Ugandan children and in HIV-infected, highly active anti-retroviral therapy (HAART) naïve children in the same geographical area, and 2) to examine if a faecal marker for gut inflammation, faecal calprotectin, can be used in children in a low-income country living in poor sanitary conditions, and if the marker can be used in an HIV-infected population.

Two surveys were conducted in urban Kampala, Uganda. The first was community-based, in children aged 0-12 years, and conducted by door-to-door visits in a neighbourhood characterised by slum-like living conditions. The second survey was hospital-based at the Department of Paediatrics and Child Health, Mulago National Referral Hospital, Kampala where all HIV-infected, HAART naïve children admitted were invited to participate. A questionnaire was used in both surveys to address questions about medical conditions and socio-economic factors. Faeces were examined for *H. pylori* by using a rapid monoclonal antigen test. Faecal calprotectin was analysed using the ELISA technique.

The overall prevalence of *H. pylori* antigen in apparently healthy urban Ugandan children aged 0-12 years was 44.3%. Early colonization was common with 28.7% in children younger than 1 year of age. There was a steady increase with age (1<3 years 46.0%, 3<6 years 51.7%, and 6<9 years 54.8%). Children living in permanent houses had a significantly lower colonization rate (38.5%) compared to those living in semi-permanent houses, 48.6%. HIV-infected children had a lower overall prevalence (22.5%). Age specific prevalence's were; 14.7% in infants 0<1 year, 30.9% among toddles 1<3 years, and 20.7% for children 3<12 years. HIV-infected children more seriously affected by their disease (lower CD4 cell percentage or WHO clinical stage II-IV) were less likely to be colonized with *H. pylori*.

Median faecal calprotectin concentrations in apparently healthy Ugandan children were comparable to those found in children living in high-income countries. They were 249mg/kg in infants 0<1 year (n=54), 75mg/kg among toddlers 1<4 years (n=89), and 28mg/kg for children 4<12 years (n=159). There was no significant difference in faecal calprotectin concentration when considering the education of female caretaker, wealth index, gender, habits of using mosquito nets, being colonized with *H. pylori* or having other pathogens in the stool. In the HIV-infected children, median faecal calprotectin concentrations were different from those in apparently healthy children. They were 208mg/kg in infants 0<1 year, 171mg/kg among toddlers 1<4 years, and 62mg/kg for

children 4<12 years. HIV-infected children more seriously affected by their disease (lower CD4 cell percentage) or diarrhoea at enrolment had a higher median faecal calprotectin concentration.

In conclusion, *H. pylori* colonization among apparently healthy urban Ugandan children is common at an early age and increases with age. The prevalence among HIV-infected children in the same geographical area is only about half. Faecal calprotectin is also a marker for gut inflammation that is well suited for use also in children in low-income countries, with the same cut-off values as suggested for children living in high-income countries. Faecal calprotectin can also be used as a tool also in an HIV-infected population for evaluation of gut inflammation. We found calprotectin to be higher in those HIV-infected children with more advanced disease, regardless of age.

Résumé in Norwegian

Gastrointestinal dysfunksjon, ofte presentert som diaré, er en av hovedårsakene til sykelighet og dødelighet blant barn i lavinntektsland. I en rapport fra Verdens Helseorganisasjon (WHO) fra 1995 er det anslått at feil-og underennæring er den underliggende årsaken til 56% av dødsfallene blant småbarn som lever i lavinntektsland. Disse funnene har senere blitt bekreftet. Mage-tarm kanalen er det største immunologiske organet i kroppen og humant immunsvikt virus (HIV) påvirker tarmfunksjonen. Det er mange gastrointestinale problemer hos barn i lavinntektsland, særlig hos HIV-positive barn. De fleste studier av gastrointestinal funksjon hos pasienter i lavinntektsland er blitt utført blant voksne.

Denne avhandlingen har to hovedmål: 1) å undersøke forekomsten av *H. pylori* hos tilsynelatende friske urbane ugandiske barn og hos HIV-smittede, highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) naive barn i samme geografiske område, og 2) å undersøke om en fekal markør for tarm inflammasjon, fekalt kalprotektin, kan brukes hos barn i lavinntekts land som lever under dårlige sanitære forhold og om markøren kan brukes i en HIV-smittet populasjon.

For å kunne svare på disse spørsmålene, ble to studier gjennomført i urbane Kampala, Uganda. Den første studien ble gjennomført hos 0-12 år gamle barn i oktober / november 2007 ved dør-til-dør besøk i et nabolag preget av slumlignende levekår. Et spørreskjema ble brukt for å belyse spørsmål rundt medisinske forhold og sosio-økonomiske faktorer. Avføring ble undersøkt for *H. pylori* ved hjelp av en monoklonal antigen test. Fekalt kalprotektin ble analysert med ELISA teknikk. Den andre studien ble gjennomført mellom februar og oktober 2008 ved Barneavdelingen på Mulago National Referral Hospital i Kampala. Alle HIV-smittede, HAART naive barn som ble innlagt i denne perioden ble inviteres til å delta i studien. Et lignende spørreskjema som i den første studien og de samme metoder for påvisning av *H. pylori* og fekalt kalprotektin ble brukt.

Den generelle forekomsten av *H. pylori* antigen i tilsynelatende friske urbane ugandiske barn i alderen 0-12 år var 44,3%. Det var en signifikant økning med alder. Tidlig kolonisering var vanlig med en forekomst på 28,7% hos barn yngre enn 1 år. Barn som levde i permanente hus hadde en betydelig lavere kolonisering, 38,5%, enn de som bodde i semi-permanente hus, 48,6%. HIV smittede barn hadde en lavere generelle forekomst, 22,5%. Blant de HIV smittede barna var den høyeste forekomsten av *H. pylori* hos barn mellom 1-3 år. De eldste barna hadde en forekomst sammenliknbar med forekomsten hos de HIV smittede spedbarna. HIV-smittede barn med mer alvorlig sykdom (lavere prosent CD4celler eller WHO klinisk stadium II-IV) hadde mindre sannsynlighet for å være kolonisert med *H. pylori*.

Konsentrasjonen av fekalt kalprotektin hos tilsynelatende friske ugandiske barn var sammenlignbar med nivåene som finnes hos friske barn i høyinntektsland. I de ulike aldersgruppene var median fekal kalprotektin konsentrasjon 249mg/kg hos barn 0<1 år (n=54), 75mg/kg hos barn 1<4 år (n = 89) og 28mg/kg hos barn 4<12 år (n = 159). Det var ingen signifikant forskjell i fekalt kalprotektin konsentrasjon og utdanning av kvinnelige

foresatt, familiens økonomiske situasjon, kjønn, vaner med å bruke myggnett, å være kolonisert med *H. pylori*, eller å ha påvist andre patogener i avføringen. Hos HIV-smittede barn var nivået av fekalt kalprotektin forskjellig fra det i tilsynelatende friske barn. Median fekalt kalprotectin konsentrasjon var 208 mg / kg hos barn i alderen 0<1 år, 171mg/kg hos barn i alderen 1<4 år og 62mg/kg hos barn i alderen 4<12 år. HIV-smittede barn med mer alvorlig sykdom (lavere prosent CD4 celler) eller diaré ved innrullering i studien hadde høyere median fekalt kalprotektin konsentrasjon uavhengig av alder.

I denne avhandlingen konkluderes det med at forekomsten av *H. pylori* hos tilsynelatende friske urbane ugandiske barn er høy i en tidlig alder og øker med alderen. Forekomsten blant HIV-smittede barn i samme region er tilnærmet halvert sammenlignet med de friske barna. Fekalt kalprotektin er en markør for tarm inflammasjon som er godt egnet for bruk også hos barn som lever i lavinntektsland, og med samme referanse verdier som foreslått hos barn som lever i høyinntektsland. Fekalt kalprotektin kan brukes som et verktøy også i den HIV-infiserte populasjonen for evaluering av tarm inflammasjon. I vår studie var fekalt kalprotektin høyere hos de med mer avansert sykdom.

Articles in the thesis

Paper I

Hestvik E, Tylleskar T, Kaddu-Mulindwa DH, Ndeezi G, Grahnquist L, Olafsdottir E, Tumwine JK. *Helicobacter pylori* in apparently healthy children aged 0-12 years in urban Kampala, Uganda: a community-based cross sectional survey. BMC Gastroenterology 2010, June 16; 10:62

Paper II

Hestvik E, Tumwine J.K, Tylleskar T, Grahnquist L, Ndeezi G, Kaddu-Mulindwa DH, Aksnes L, Olafsdottir E. Faecal calprotectin concentrations in apparently healthy children aged 0-12 years in urban Kampala, Uganda: a community-based survey. BMC Pediatric 2011 February 2; 11(1):9

Paper III

Hestvik E, Tylleskar T, Ndeezi G, Grahnquist L, Olafsdottir E, Tumwine J.K, Kaddu-Mulindwa DH. Prevalence of *Helicobacter pylori* in HIV-infected, HAART naïve Ugandan children: a hospital-based survey. J Int AIDS Soc. 2011 Jun 30;14(1):34

Paper VI

Hestvik E, Olafsdottir E, Tumwine J.K, Tylleskar T, Ndeezi G, Kaddu-Mulindwa DH, Aksnes L, Grahnquist L. Faecal calprotectin in HIV-infected HAART naïve Ugandan children: a hospital-based survey. (Accepted J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr.)

1 Introduction

1.1 Gastrointestinal tract: function and dysfunction

The gastrointestinal (GI) tract consists of the upper and lower tract divided by the ligament of Treitz. The upper tract (mouth, throat, esophagus, stomach, and duodenum) is accessible or by endoscopy and an accurate diagnosis can be made. The lower tract (jejunum, ileum, colon, and rectum) is partly accessible by rectoscopy and colonoscopy, but the jejunum and most of the ileum are not. Diseases in the ileum and the jejunum must be diagnosed by markers and other modalities, such as ultrasound, computer tomography (CT) or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). Children need general anaesthesia when endoscopy is required. In low-income countries including Uganda, endoscopy, CT, and MRI are rarely available and diagnosis of the GI tract must be made using other diagnostic tools.

GI symptoms are common in children all over the world. Different studies report that recurrent abdominal pain affects as many as 9-19% of school children, enough to interfere with normal daily activity [1, 2]. GI dysfunction, often presenting as diarrhoea, is one of the major causes of morbidity and mortality among children in low-income countries [3]. GI failure in children has an impact on illnesses associated with growth faltering [4], micronutrient deficiencies [5, 6], impaired neurodevelopment [7], and increased morbidity and mortality from other childhood diseases [8].

Diarrhoea accounts for 21% of all deaths in children under five years of age and causes 1.5-2.5 million deaths per year [9, 10]. Diarrhoea is categorised by the World Health Organisation (WHO) as acute and persistent diarrhoea [11]. Diarrhoea is defined as the passage of three or more loose or liquid stools per day, persistent diarrhoea lasting for more than 14 days. Between 5 and 18% of all diarrhoea episodes in low-income countries become persistent [12-14]. Persistent diarrhoea accounts for 50% of all days affected by diarrhoea [12]. Malnourished children and those with impaired immunity are more likely to develop persistent diarrhoea. Diarrhoea, in turn, tends to worsen their condition.

H. pylori is considered to be the major cause of recurrent chronic gastritis and duodenal ulcer disease in childhood. Some studies also suggest that gastric infection with *H. pylori* is associated with sub-optimal nutrition and retarded growth in childhood [15]. Studies in Africa have shown a significant increase in *H. pylori* prevalence with age [16, 17].

Faecal calprotectin is a marker for gastrointestinal inflammation and is frequently used to distinguish between irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) and inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) [18].

The GI tract is the largest immunological site of the body and human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection profoundly impacts on gut function and disease development [19, 20]. There are numerous GI problems in children in low-income countries and in particularly in HIV-infected children [20-22]. In low-income countries, it is estimated that diarrhoea may occur in as many as 80% of HIV-infected individuals [23].

1.2 HIV in Ugandan children

1.2.1 Epidemiology

Sub-Saharan Africa accounts for 67% of all people living with HIV, and carries the highest burden of the global HIV epidemic [24]. In Uganda, 940.000 people, including 130.000 children were living with HIV in 2007 [24]. About 1000 children are infected with HIV each day worldwide. At the end of December 2008, only 32% of HIV-infected children less than 15 years of age in eastern and southern Africa needing HAART were on therapy (<u>http://www.who.int/hiv/topics/paediatric/data/en/index1.html</u>). About 1.2 million children are orphaned in Uganda due to HIV/AIDS (<u>http://www.unicef.org/infobycountry/uganda_statistics.html</u>).

1.2.2 CD4 cell count and clinical staging in HIV-infected children

Children have a natural decline in CD4 (cluster of differentiation 4) cell count with age [25] and therefore it is more correct to report CD4 cell count in children as a percentage of the total lymphocyte count. The WHO therapy guideline, available at the time of the study [26], recommended starting HAART in children at different levels of CD4 percentage dependent on age, table 1. The newest WHO treatment guidelines recommend starting HAART in all HIV-infected children younger than two year of age, between 24 and 59 months of age with CD4 cell percentage ≤ 25 , and in children older than 5 years of age with CD4 cell count ≤ 350 cells/mm³ [27].

Immunological	Age-specific recommendation to initiate HAART ^b				
Marker ^a	≤ 11 months	12-35 months	36 - 59 months	≥ 5 years	
CD4 cell % ^c	< 25	< 20	< 15	< 15	
CD4 cell count ^c	<1500	< 750	< 350	<200	
(cell/mm3)					
			(Copied from the WH	O guideline [26])	

Table 1. CD4 cell criteria for severe HIV immunodeficiency

^a Immunological markers supplement clinical assessment and should therefore be used in combination with clinical staging. CD4 is preferably measured after stabilization of acute presenting conditions.

^b HAART should be initiated by these cut-off levels, regardless of clinical stage; a drop of CD4 below these levels significantly increases the risk of disease progression and mortality.

^c CD4 cell percentage is preferred for children aged <5 years.

In most settings where HIV treatment is provided today, virological testing and CD4 cell count diagnostic are available. Despite this, clinical staging is still an important tool for follow up after initiating treatment and also in some cases for treatment initiating. The WHO clinical staging system has 4 stages; 1 asymptomatic, 2 mild, 3 advanced, and 4 severe, for more detail, see appendix VI. All children should be classified according to this system, independent of virological testing and CD4 cell diagnostic. Many of the symptoms in the clinical staging system are due to opportunistic infections (OI). Children are identified as stage 3 when they have symptoms from disease in the GI tract, and regardless of CD4 cell count, initiating HAART is recommended.

1.2.3 Gastrointestinal aspects and HIV enteropathy

Worldwide, GI disease continues to account for a high proportion of presenting symptoms of HIV infection, especially in low-income countries [19, 20, 28-30]. Children with a low CD4 cell percentage are more at risk for acute and persistent diarrhoea [31]. Common conditions in children living in low-income countries are much more frequent in HIV-infected children with a much higher mortality and morbidity rate than non-HIV-infected children. In a study from Rwanda, the initial clinical sign that occurred most frequently was failure to thrive [32]. Children living with HIV without HAART treatment die due to other OI and GI failure [33].

Studies have shown that invasive investigations, demanding general anaesthesia in children, such as colonoscopy with intubation and biopsy of the terminal ileum together with endoscopy of the upper GI tract are necessary to identify GI opportunistic infections at high rates [29]. Numerous pathogens found in HIV-infected persons with diarrhoea are atypical and need highly sophisticated methods to be identified [23]. If identification is done, the treatment recommendations for many of the pathogens found are still pending [34] and if known, the drugs needed are often not available in low-income countries. Studies have shown that initiating HAART is one of the most effective treatment for many of the opportunistic infections [23].

Increased intestinal permeability in HIV-infected populations has been confirmed by several studies [35-37], and occurs in 40-60% of children with symptomatic HIV infection [38, 39]. This data comes from studies of children in high-income countries. Commonly among these studies, they have tested for carbohydrate malabsorption, and it has been concluded that there are increased small intestinal permeability. Sharpstone et al. [37] used a lactulose/Lrhamnose test to show that all AIDS infected participants in the study except from those being defined as "well", had significantly increased intestinal permeability compare to healthy controls. Greenson et al. [40] found that adults with AIDS with and without diarrhoea have a significantly reduced villius/crypt ratio, villius height ratio and crypt depth compared to normal controls. Knox et al. [30] investigated 671 HIV-infected persons, 39% had diarrhoea, stool pathogens were identified in only 12% of these patients. Despite this, 48% of all patients had an abnormal D-xylose test, 22.5% had borderline or low serum B-12 levels, and 7.2% had a depressed albumin level. Especially the abnormal D-xylose test and depressed levels of albumin are pointing to a GI malabsorption in those HIV-infected. Increased malabsorption is often associated with increased permeability of the GI tract [37]. Gori et al. [41] investigated 53 healthy, asymptomatic, HAART naïve Italian adults and found faecal calprotectin to be higher than 50mg/ml in 27 subjects. They concluded that the GI tract in HIV-infected patients is impaired in the early phase of the disease, and that this impairment is associated with elevated levels of gut inflammatory markers.

Many factors contribute to GI dysfunction in HIV-infected persons [42]; frequent causes in low-income countries are different pathogens [23] or *Clostridium difficile* after protracted antibiotic treatment [42]. After endoscopy with biopsies, there are cases without an identified cause of a GI disorder; these are frequently referred to as HIV enteropathy. The exact pathogenesis of HIV enteropathy remains unclear, but has been attributed to dysegulation of local cytokine production and destruction of gut-associated lymphatic tissue (GALT), and HIV replication in residual GALT [43, 44]. It will be a combination of these

in most cases. HIV enteropathy can exist in HIV positive patients with refractory diarrhoea in a small percentage of the population, but OI must first be excluded [23]. Exclusion of OI has limitations as mentioned above. Over the time, since the identification of HIV, more pathogens have been identified and fewer changes in the GI tract are currently believed to be caused by HIV enteropathy [23].

1.3 Helicobacter pylori

1.3.1 Biology and origin

H. pylori is one of the most common causes of bacterial infection in human beings [45], with probably more than 50% of the world population being infected. It was first isolated and cultured by Warren and Marshall in 1983 [46], but spiral-shaped or curved bacilli were found in the human gastric mucosa already more than 100 years ago [47], with similar organisms being seen in the gastric mucosa of mammals as early as 1896 [48]. Initially it was termed Campylobacter-like, but was later assigned the name *Campylobacter pyloridis* because of its principal localization in the lower pyloric parts of the stomach. The name was changed to *H. pylori* in 1989, when taxonomic features of the bacterium shown that it was a genus of its own [49]. The role of *H. pylori* in duodenal and gastric ulcer disease was established and reported in a consensus statement in 1994 [50] as a result of the accelerating research on both microbiological aspects and pathogenic role of this newly discovered bacteria. In 1994, the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) concluded, after numerous epidemiological studies investigating the link between *H. pylori* is carcinogenic to humans and thus classified *H. pylori* as the first bacterial Group I carcinogen [51].

H. pylori is a Gram-negative, urease-, catalase- and oxidase positive bacterium that inhabits the mucous layer of the gastric mucosa of the stomach. The bacterium is about 3 micrometers long with a diameter of ~ 0.5 micrometer and has up to 6 sheeted polar flagella that are important for its mobility. The characteristic high urease activity is used by the bacteria to convert urea in the gastric juice to ammonia and bicarbonate. These products buffer the gastric acid and create a friendly microenvironment for *H. pylori* [52].

Only a small percentage of colonized individuals will express clinical manifestation. A proposed determinant for the outcome of colonization is the ability of the bacterium to attach to the gastric epithelium. Electron microscopy has confirmed the presence of the tight adherence of *H. pylori* to the gastric cell surface through formation of membrane attachment pedestals similar to those described with the enteropathogenic bacterium, *Escherichia coli* [53, 54].

Bacterial attachment is partially mediated by a number of adhesins and outer membrane proteins. Three Hop proteins have been implicated in the pathogenesis of *H. pylori* infection, BabA, OipA and SabA [55]. BabA mediates binding to fucosylated Lewis b (Le(b)) blood group antigens on host cells [56]. OipA may serve as an adhesin but it also promotes inflammation by increasing IL-8 expression [57]. SabA mediates binding to glycoconjugates containing sialic acid [58].

Functional differences exist between strains of *H. pylori* that may relate to virulence and tissue damage [59]. Vacuolating cytotoxin, vacA, is secreted by $\sim 50\%$ of *H. pylori* isolates in high-income countries. Infection with vacA positive strains is reported to be associated with gastric and duodenal peptic ulcerations, and gastric cancer [60, 61]. VacA behaves as a passive urea transporter that is potentially capable of increasing the permeability of the gastric epithelium to urea, thereby creating a favourable environment for *H. pylori* infectivity [62]. Virulence of VacA appears to depend upon the function of a tyrosine phosphatase receptor in gastric epithelial cells [62]. *H. pylori* strains with different VacA alleles have differing toxicity [63].

CagA protein is another putative virulence factor, encoded by the cagA gene (cytotoxin associated gene A) [64, 65]. This gene is present in $\sim 60\%$ of *H. pylori* isolates [66]. Although the function of CagA protein is unknown, the protein seems to be associated with peptic ulcer [67] and gastric cancer in Europe and North America [68, 69]. CagA -positive *H. pylori* strains are associated with interleukin-8 (IL-8) induction in gastric epithelium. Neutrophilic infiltration into the gastric epithelium, which is characteristic of *H. pylori* infection, may be due to the increased production of IL-8. CagA protein may therefore be related to gastric inflammation and gastroduodenal diseases [70]. Strains producing VacA and CagA cause more intense tissue inflammation and induce cytokine production [71-73].

1.3.2 Diagnostic modalities

The ¹³Urea breath test [74, 75] or invasive methods, such as gastroscopy with biopsies and/or urease tests used to be the "gold standard" for detecting of *H. pylori*. The ¹³Urea breath test is a very time- and personnel-consuming test, where much collaboration between investigator and patient is required. The patient have to stop taking acid-reducing medication 14 days in advance of the test, have to fast for 4-6 hours in advance of the test, then drink a juice before exhale into a bag often through a straw. This test has been reported to be done concurrently in young children and infants, but it is to some extend unsuitable for children. For the urease test and for culture of *H. pylori* a gastroscopy is required. To perform gastroscopy in children, general anaesthesia is required, and again this is time- and personnel-consuming, and invasive and unsuitable for children. The faecal monoclonal antigen test we used has high sensitivity, specificity, and accuracy in children, 91-96%, 95-96% and 94-96%, respectively [76, 77]. The faecal test can be performed in all age groups and gives rapid results without the need for sophisticated laboratory equipment. Acidreducing medication can be continued. Common to all the tests mentioned above is the measurement of an ongoing H. pylori infection and H. pylori must be present at time of investigation.

Serological tests are also available, but in children they often show very low sensitivity and specificity [78-80]. A major drawback of serological tests is that they do not discriminate between current and past infections. A specific IgG may remain positive for years after the infection has been cleared. The joint European and North American guideline [81] does not recommend using serology in a clinical setting for children.

1.3.3 Epidemiology

H. pylori colonization is acquired early in life. The mode of transmission of *H. pylori* is not fully understood, and no certain environmental source has been identified [82]. In fact, it has been proposed that humans are the only reservoir of *H. pylori* [83]. Different routs of transmission are suggested, faecal–oral and oral-oral. Early colonization in children living in poor socio-economic conditions has been demonstrated, and several studies have shown a high prevalence of *H. pylori* among people in low-income countries [16, 84-86]. There is a substantial gap in prevalence in low- and high-income countries. In low-income countries, the prevalence of *H. pylori* infections often reaches 50% among 5-years old children, whereas in high-income countries the prevalence is low (<10%), table 2 and 3.

Population	Author	Comment ^a	Age (years)	Number ^b	% H. pylori +
Ethiopia	Lindkvist [87]	Serology	2-4	248	48
South-	Pelser [84]	Serology	<2	104	13.5
Africa			2-5	103	48.5
			5-10	104	84.2
Kenya	Langat [86]	Stool	0-3	195	45.6
		antigen			
Tanzania	Mbulaiteye	Serology	0-4	181	76
	[88]		5-9	180	93
			10-17	152	97
Cameron	Ndip[16]	Stool	0<3	32	37.5
		antigen	3-6	106	50.0
		-	7-10	38	71.1
Nigeria	Holcombe	Serology	<10	100	69
-	[89]		10-19	43	91
Gambia	Sullivan [90]	Serology	1.5-3.3	136	27
			3.5-5	135	46

Table 2. Prevalence of H. pylori among asymptomatic children in sub-Saharan Africa

^a Test method uses to identify *H. pylori* colonization

^b Number of participants in the study

Population	Author	Comment ^a	Age (years)	Number ^b	% H. pylori +
Norway	Stray-	Stool	0-7 days	69	52
	Pedersen	antigen	7-30 days	46	15
	[91]		1month-3 y	134	5
Sweden	Granstrom	Serology	2	237	10.1
	[92]		4	185	7.5
			11	201	3.0
Germany	Grimm [93]	¹³ Urea	7-20	540	9.4
	Rotenbacher	breath	6	475	5
	[94]	Serology			
Turkey	Abasiyanik	Serology	1-9	33	42
	[95]		10-19	56	55
Tunisia	K. Siai [96]	Serology	6-7	1055	51.4
Brazil	Kawakami	¹³ Urea	0-1	86	12.8
	[97]	breath	2-5	273	19.4
			6-10	313	28.8
			11-20	529	46.3
Canada ^c	Segal [98]	¹³ Urea	5-18	214	7.1
		breath			
Hong Kong ^d	Tam [99]	¹³ Urea	6-19	2480	13.1
		breath			
India	Mishra [100]	Nested	0-5	47	4.3
		PCR	6-10	22	13.6
		in faeces	11-16	68	50.0

Table 3. Prevalence of H. pylori among asymptomatic children in other parts of the world

^a Test method uses to identify *H. pylori* colonization

Number of participants in the study

Referred for upper endoscopy

d Chinese children residents in Hong Kong

1.3.4 Helicobacter pylori and HIV

There is little data on the prevalence in HIV-infected children, both in high- and lowincome countries, table 4. To the best of our knowledge there is only one study from sub-Saharan Africa reporting the prevalence of *H. pylori* in HIV-infected children, and there are no studies performed in child populations showing differences in the prevalence of H. pylori according to CD4 cell count. The study, reporting the prevalence of H. pylori in HIVinfected African children, was designed to describe the findings in HIV-infected South-African children who underwent gastroscopy. They also reported the rates of H. pylori colonization, with only one out of 26 children was colonized [101]. Only two studies were done with the aim of assessing the prevalence of *H. pylori* in HIV-infected children [102, 103], none of them from endemic areas for HIV. A Belgian study [102] on 23 HIV-infected children of Central African origin, born in Belgium used a serology test to detect H. pylori colonization. They found none of the tested children to be colonized compared to 19.2% in a control population. An Italian study [103], using serology and ¹³Urea breath tests in 45 perinatally HIV-infected children found prevalences of 17.7 and 20% respectively. In a review on the incidence of *H. pylori* in HIV-infected adults [104], diverging estimates of the prevalence of *H. pylori* were found. In a study from Argentina on adults [105], the authors

concluded that HIV-infected patients with *H. pylori* had a higher mean CD4 cell count than those without *H. pylori*, and a Zambian study [106] showed that HIV-infected adult patients with CD4 cell counts below 200cells/mm³ were less likely to have positive *H. pylori* serology (odds ratio [OR] 0.29 [95% CI 0.09–0.93]). Many studies from sub-Saharan Africa have used serological tests [107-109], which have been shown to have a lower specificity in children.

Population	Author	Diagnostic method(s)	Age (years)	Number ^c	% H. pylori +
South Africa Belgium ^a Italy	Cooke [101] Blecker [102] Lionetti [103]	Endoscopy Serology Serology + ¹³ Urea breath ^b	0-12 1-15 1-13	26 23 45	3.8 0 17.7 20.0

Table 4. Prevalence of H. pylori among HIV-infected children

^a Central African origin

^b Serology and ¹³Urea breath test were performed in all children

^c Number of participants in the study

1.3.5 Clinical aspects

H. pylori is probably the major cause of recurrent chronic gastritis and duodenal ulcer disease in childhood. However, the association between *H. pylori* and recurrent abdominal pain (RAP) syndrome is still controversial. Until now, no association has been found between RAP and *H. pylori* infection [110]. A French group could not find any specific characteristics of symptoms in *H. pylori* infected children that had non-peptic dyspepsia [111]. Peptic ulcer disease is not particularly common among children, but is often caused by *H. pylori* [112]. Some studies also suggest that gastric infection with *H. pylori* is associated with sub-optimal nutrition and growth in childhood [15]. *H. pylori* has also been linked to iron deficiency anaemia [113, 114].

The connections between *H. pylori* infection and auto-immune thyroid disorder [115], and *H. pylori* infection and respiratory infection/acute otitis media [116], have been evaluated, but no significant association has been found. Furthermore, *H. pylori* infection is associated with cancer, but this is not often seen in children due to the long delay in developing the disease. *H. pylori* infections are associated with gastric cancer, MALT lymphoma and colon cancer, but the last one remains controversial.

1.3.6 Treatment of Helicobacter pylori in children

The first consensus report on treatment of *H. pylori* in European children [117] was published in 2002. The Canadian Helicobacter Study Group updated the Canadian consensus in 2005 [118]. Recently a joint evidence-based guideline [81] from the European Society of Paediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition (ESPGHAN) and the North American Society of Pediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition (NASPGHAN) has been published. It aims to answer 4 questions: 1) Who should be tested? 2) What test should be used? 3) Who should be treated? and 4) What treatment regiments are most appropriate?. The guidelines stress that they only applies to children living in Europe and North America, and particularly not for low-income countries. There is no

general consensus on the treatment of children or for treating *H. pylori* in low-income countries with a high prevalence in children. A general treatment for all infected humans is not recommended. Only in *H. pylori* positive children with symptoms or GI ulcers demonstrated, is a tipple therapy is recommended. The combinations recommended in the joint guideline are a proton pump inhibitor (PPI) +Amoxicillin + Imidazole or Clarithromycin; alternatively Bismuth salts + Amoxicillin + Imidazole [81].

1.4 Faecal calprotectin

1.4.1 Biochemistry and origin of calprotectin

Calprotectin was discovered in 1979 by Fagerhol et al. [119] while searching for a simple assay for granulocyte turnover in vivo. Calprotectin is a calcium and zinc binding heterocomplex protein consisting of two heavy chains and one light one. It belongs to the S-100 protein family. The protein constitutes ~ 60% of the soluble proteins in the cytosol fraction of neutrophils [120]. In the early literature, it is also called MRP8/14 and L1 protein. Calprotectin has not been detected in B or T lymphocytes, erythrocytes, platelets or any non-myeloid cells of the intestines or pancreas [121, 122]. The protein is distributed in myelomonocytes, such as neutrophil granulocytes, monocytes and activated macrophages, and in submucosal epithelial cells [121, 122]. It is a putative protective protein that is remarkably resistant to degradation in vivo and in vitro in the presence of calcium, so faecal samples can be sent to the laboratory by mail. It is stable in faeces stored for 7 days at ambient temperature [123]. Calprotectin and its subunits appear to have regulatory functions in the inflammatory process, and various biological functions including antimicrobial and antiproliferative activity have been ascribed to the protein.

1.4.2 Faecal calprotectin analysis

A faecal calprotectin ELISA test has been available since 1994 [124]. Fagerberg et al. [125] have established a reference value for healthy Swedish children aged 4-17 years using an improved assay (Calprest®, Eurospital, Trieste, Italy) with greater sensitivity than previously available. Her conclusion was that the suggested cut-off level in adults, $<50\mu g/g$, can be used for children aged 4-17 years regardless of sex. In young infants, high faecal calprotectin concentrations are normal [126, 127]. In healthy pre-term babies the concentrations are comparable with those in healthy term babies [128, 129]. Studies diverge in their conclusions as to weather faecal calprotectin is higher in exclusively breast-feed children than in mix feed children [130, 131]. Faecal calprotectin decrease with age and in healthy children reaches stabile low levels as found by Fagerberg et al. at about 4 years of age.

1.4.3 Calprotectin in body fluids

Calprotectin is a normal constituent of human plasma. Normal levels of calprotectin in plasma are between 90 and $530\mu g/l$ in women and between 120 and $660\mu g/l$ in men [132]. Levels in plasma/serum increase in response to different types of inflammation or damage of tissue. Calprotectin is found in saliva and levels are different in parotid saliva and whole saliva [133]. The protein is found in cerebrospinal fluid in trace amounts [120]. High levels of calprotectin are found in synovial fluid in patients with rheumatoid arthritis, plasma levels reflecting disease activity [134].

1.4.4 Faecal calprotectin and gastrointestinal disease

Increased faecal calprotectin is a marker for increased permeability of the GI tract [124]. In very low birth weight babies (VLBW) developing severe abdominal disease, for instance necrotizing enterocolitis (NEC), faecal calprotectin concentrations tend to increase more than in VLBW babies without NEC, and it may be a marker for early diagnosis [128, 129]. Faecal calprotectin levels are elevated in adults [123, 135] and children [126, 136, 137] with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) and might be used to evaluate the degree of inflammation in these patients. Faecal calprotectin is used in paediatric clinics today as a "screening" for IBD in children transferred with recurrent abdominal pain or recurrent/prolonged diarrhoea. Faecal calprotectin may differentiate between functional abdominal pain and IBD in school-age children [138]. A significant correlation is found between calprotectin concentration in gut lavage fluid and intestinal permeability, suggesting that increased intestinal permeability in IBD might be a consequence of increased transepithelial migration of neutrophils [139]. Faecal calprotectin is also elevated in patients with GI cancer [140] and NSAID induced enteropathy [141]. In diagnosed colorectal cancer, faecal calprotectin concentrations above an upper reference limit were found in more than 90% of the patients in a Norwegian study [123]. Lymphonodular hyperplasia in the gut is common in infants and young children [142, 143], it occurs frequently in children with food protein-induced colitis [144], disrupts the normal mucosa [142], and increased levels of faecal calprotectin can occur. Faecal calprotectin concentrations have also been analysed in children with acute gastroenteritis [145, 146]. The concentration is elevated when compared to healthy children, but not as high as in IBD. In an Italian study of children aged 1-18 years, referred for gastrointestinal symptoms, faecal calprotectin was higher in those with acute gastroenteritis, but these children had a considerably lower mean age than 4 years [146]. In a study of 46 children, with bacterial GI infections, faecal calprotectin was not elevated regardless of the pathogen compared to 23 healthy controls [147]. It is known that the permeability of the gastrointestinal tract can be increased by gastroenteritis. This can lead to a higher concentration of faecal calprotectin due to higher levels of granulocytes in the lumen. Faecal calprotectin is a sensitive, but not disease-specific marker useful in detecting inflammation throughout the whole gastrointestinal tract in children.

1.4.5 Calprotectin and HIV/AIDS

To the best of our knowledge, there are no published articles on faecal calprotectin in children living with HIV/AIDS, except the work presented in this thesis. In 53 HIVinfected, HAART naïve Italian adults, faecal calprotectin has been found elevated in half of the patient [41]. Patients with HIV developing oral candidiasis, had significantly lower parotid calprotectin levels than those who did not [148-150]. Significantly elevated levels of calprotectin were found in the serum of 51 HIV-positive patients, both in asymptomatic patients and patients who had developed AIDS, compared with controls. The calprotectin levels in cerebrospinal fluid have been studied in patient with HIV who developed symptoms of the CNS. Patients with opportunistic CNS-infections had levels above the reference limit, and patients with HIV-associated encephalopathy had levels within the reference range [152], but the sample size was low (15 patients).

2 Aim and objectives

2.1 Overall aim

The overall aim of this thesis was to assess the prevalence of *H. pylori* in Ugandan children, and to explore whether faecal calprotectin can be used in the clinical management of HIV in Ugandan children.

2.2 Specific objectives

The specific objectives were to:

a) Assess the prevalence and associated factors with *H. pylori* in apparently healthy children aged 0-12 years in Kampala, Uganda (Paper I).

b) Assess the prevalence and associated factors with *H. pylori* in HIV-infected, HAART naïve children aged 0-12 years in Kampala, Uganda (Paper II).

c) Establish reference values for faecal calprotectin concentrations in apparently healthy children aged 0-12 years in Kampala, Uganda (Paper III).

d) Determine faecal calprotectin concentrations in HIV-infected, HAART naïve children aged 0-12 years in Kampala, Uganda (Paper IV).

e) Study the correlation between the concentrations of faecal calprotectin and CD4 cell percentage in HIV-infected, HAART naïve children aged 0-12 years in Kampala, Uganda (Paper IV).

3 Methods

3.1 Study area and population

Uganda is a landlocked country in East-Africa; its neighbouring countries are Kenya, Sudan, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Rwanda and Tanzania, figure 1. Approximately 50% of the population is living below the international poverty line of US \$ 1.25 per day, and the gross domestic product (GDP) per capita is \sim US \$ 500. In 2008, the population of Uganda was estimated at 30 million people of whom \sim 1.5 million live in the capital city Kampala (www.ubos.org). Kampala has five divisions, one of them being Kawempe, figure 2. Kawempe division houses 22% of Kampala's population. Both surveys were carried out in Kawempe division.



Figure 1. Uganda with bordering countries

Figure 2. The 5 divisions of Kampala: Kawempe, Rubaga, Central, Nakawa and Makindye. The community-based survey was carried out in Kawempe

3.2 Design, sampling and data collection

The data in this thesis are based on two surveys conducted in 2007 and 2008;

- 1. Apparently healthy children
- 2. HIV-infected, HAART naïve children

Table 5. Connections between the two study populations and the test used inn all 4 papers

Two tests	Two populations	Apparently healthy	HIV-infected Ugandan children
Helicobacter p	<i>ylori</i>	Paper I	Paper III
-faecal monoclonal antigen test Faecal calprotectin		Paper II	Paper IV
-ELISA			

Both surveys were conducted in Kampala, Uganda. Both surveys included children aged 0-12 years, figure 3.



Figure 3. Enrolment and study profiles of both surveys

3.2.1 Apparently healthy children

A cross-sectional survey was conducted by door-to-door visits in October and November 2007. The study was carried out in all zones of Mulago II parish, one of the 22 parishes of Kawempe division, and one of 5 divisions in Kampala. The data collection was done within six weeks by eight data collectors. Elin Hestvik accompanied the data collectors in the field daily.



Figure 4. Settlement of the Kawempe division

(Picture from www.maps.google.com)

3.2.2 HIV-infected, HAART naïve children

This was a hospital-based survey. The hospital is situated within the Kawempe division and it is owned and run by the Ugandan government. It is the district hospital for people living in the area of Mulago Hill at Kawempe division, at the same time being the national referral hospital for the whole of Uganda. Participants were enrolled from the general paediatric medical wards, the acute care unit, the ward for malnutrition and the paediatric infectious diseases clinic (PIDC) at Department of Paediatrics, Mulago National Referral Hospital, Kampala between February and October 2008. The daily enrolment and investigations of participants were done by an Ugandan medical doctor employed for the project. The data collection was monitored by Dr. Grace Ndeezi on site and Elin Hestvik. For HIV-infected children the enrolment period was set at 9 months prior to the study, according to experience in the paediatric clinic and the number of children who had been newly diagnosed with HIV monthly. We had to accept a low number of HIV-infected, HAART naïve older children due to the natural history of HIV.



Figure 5. A general paediatric medical ward at Department of Paediatrics, Mulago National Referral Hospital, Kampala.

3.3 Statistical procedures

3.3.1 Sample size

OpenEpi (<u>www.openepi.com</u>) was used to calculate the sample sizes based on assessing a single proportion with a narrow confidence interval. In the survey of apparently healthy children we assumed a 50% prevalence of *H. pylori* colonization in the apparently healthy children, and in the HIV-infected children we assumed 30%. A 95% CI was used for the estimates. The sample sizes were calculated with the formula:

DEFF= design effect=1 (we did not had to adjust for cluster sampling) N= total population size is large, assumed to 1million p= prevalence, assumed prevalence of *H. pylori* was 50% d= confidence limits (absolute precision) fixed to 5% α = 0.05 by a CI 95% as we used Z = Z value (e.g. 1.96 for 95% confidence level)

 $n = [DEFF*Np(1-p)]/[(d2/Z^{2}_{1-\alpha/2}*(N-1)+p*(1-p)]].$

This gave us a sample size of 384 apparently healthy children and 323 HIV-infected children. Another 10% was added to allow for contingency in the survey of apparently healthy children, a total of 422.

3.3.2 Statistical procedures and data management

Data from the questionnaires and biochemistry were doubly entered using EpiData version 3.1 (www.epidata.dk). The data were exported to SPSS version 15.0 for paper I and version 17.0 for paper II-IV for statistical analysis. Data quality was ensured through careful selection and training of research assistants, supervision, field editing by use of the "check"

34

module at data entry, and double data entry and validation. The "checks" at data entry were limits set by the study team to ensure that it was impossible to enter clearly inaccurate information. A child could only be between 48 and 180 cm; it is impossible to enter other data and many answers could only be "yes" or "no". After entering all data twice in separate files, the 2 separate data files were validated by comparison and any non-matching data were checked manually against the original paper form.

To assess the prevalence of *H. pylori* and its association with other factors in paper I and III, binary logistic regression as well as multiple logistic regressions were performed. Findings are presented in odds ratios with their confidence intervals (CI).

In paper II and IV, faecal calprotectin concentrations were expected to have a skewed distribution; the median was used. Faecal calprotectin values in the different groups were compared by using the Mann-Whitney U test (for two different groups) and by the Kruskal-Wallis H test (for three or more groups). To control for diarrhoea as a confounder for a low CD4 cell percentage in the HIV-positive group, linear regression was used.

The confidence interval reported was set to 95%. All tests were 2-sided, p-value of 0.05 or less was considered significant. Age was reported in mean and years with standard deviation (SD). Principal component analysis was used, to explore the socio-economic status of the participants.

In paper III and IV CD4 cell percentage was classified as high or low with limits defined by age: 1) for children <12 months high if CD4 cell > 25%, 2) for 12<36 months high if CD4 cell > 20% and 3) for \geq 36 months high if CD4 cell >15%. The limits chosen were consistent with the limits recommended for starting HAART according to the WHO guidelines available at the time of the study [26]. All children were clinically categorized using the WHO staging system [153] for HIV-infected children. For further details on the WHO staging see Appendix VI.

3.4 Helicobacter pylori antigen test

For the detection of *H. pylori* in both surveys, an antigen test called <u>ImmunoCard STAT!HpSA</u> was used. It is a rapid 5 minutes immunoassay based on a lateral flow chromatography technique using a monoclonal antibody for the qualitative detection of *H. pylori* antigens in human stool. Unlike serological tests, the detection of *H. pylori* antigens in the stool identify a current (= ongoing) infection using a truly non-invasive method. It can be used for diagnosing the infection, as well as for confirming eradication four weeks after the end of the therapy.

For both surveys, the stool specimen was collected in empty air-tight container and was stored in the fridge until the same afternoon or next morning before testing.

The manufacturer instructions were followed; the applicator stick of the diluent vial was used to transfer a small portion (5-6 mm in diameter) of stool specimen into the sample diluents, which was vortexed for 15 seconds. The tip of the vial was broken off, and four drops were dispensed into the round window at the lower end of the device before reading the result after five minutes. The results were interpreted as followed:

Negative: one BLUE line (control)

Positive: one BLUE line (control) and one PINK-RED line (test).

After every 20 tests, a positive control was run.



Copied from www.mdeur.com

Figure 6. Rapid method for H. pylori antigen detection

3.5 Faecal calprotectin measured by ELISA technique

For measuring faecal calprotectin concentrations in both surveys, we used the <u>CALPROCalprotectin ELISA Test (ALP)</u>, a quantitative method for the determination of calprotectin in stool samples.

After taking stool from the air tight container for *H. pylori*, microscopy and culture, faeces were frozen within 48 hour after collection in Eppendorf tubes, taking ~ five gram at -80°C. At the end of both surveys, the faeces were transported frozen to Bergen, Norway on ice for the analysis, which was done in July 2008 (for apparently healthy children) and august 2010 (for HIV-infected children).

We followed the manufacturer instructions. Faeces were defrosted at room temperature, $\sim 100 \text{ mg}$ were placed in a screw-cap tube and diluted at the ratio1:50 with extraction buffer. The solution was vortexed for 30 minutes. 1-2 ml of the homogenate was transferred to an Eppendorf tube and centrifuged at 10.000g for 20 minutes. About 0.5 ml of the clear supernatant was transferred to a new tube and stored at $+4^{\circ}$ C until the next day. The extracts were diluted 1:50 before running. 50 µl of the 8 standards, the controls and the diluted samples were added to the ELISA plate (96 wells). The plate was covered with a sealing foil and incubated at room temperature for 45 minutes. It was washed 5 times and 50 µl of the conjugate was added to each well. The plate was again sealed and washed. 100 µl substrate solution was added to each well and thereafter incubated at room temperature for 20-30 minutes. 100 µl stop solution was added to each well. The values of the diluted samples were corrected for the dilutions and converted to mg/kg by multiplying by 2.5.



Figure 7. ELISA techniques for determination of faecal calprotectin levels

3.6 Ethical considerations

The research protocols for the apparently healthy children and the HIV-infected children were approved by the Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics, West-Norway (REK-VEST) in Norway and Makerere University, Faculty of Medicine, Research and Ethics Committee in Uganda. Oral and written information about the study was given to the caretakers either in English or the local language. Informed consent was obtained from all the caretaker of the participants in the study. The data collectors were trained in ethical issues prior to the study.

HIV testing followed the Ugandan national guidelines [154] which closely follow the WHO guidelines. Children over 18 months were tested using a rapid blood test with a sensitivity rate > 98%. To confirm positive results, a second test with a different antigenic specificity was used. If there was discordance between the 2 tests, an ELISA test (tie-breaker) was used to make a final diagnosis. For children under 18 months of age, a polymerase chain reaction (PCR) test was used to give a reliable HIV diagnosis.

Children found to have symptoms of *H. pylori* and a positive antigen test, were offered a triple treatment of amoxicillin/claritromycin/omeprazole for 1 week free of charge. All participating children were offered a deworming treatment (if not treated in the last 6 months) after providing the faecal sample. The treatment for the children in the hospital was not influenced by their participation in the survey.

4 Summary of results

Paper I: "*Helicobacter pylori* in apparently healthy children aged 0-12 years in urban Kampala, Uganda: a community-based cross sectional survey"

The overall prevalence of *H. pylori* in the 427 children was 44.3% (189/427). Early colonization was common, 28.7%, in children younger than 1 year of age. The age specific rates were 46.0% in children aged 1<3 years, 51.7% in children aged 3<6 years, 54.8% in children aged 6<9 years, and 40.0% in children aged 9<12 years (Figure 2, Paper I). There was a significant difference in prevalence by gender; female 38.5% versus male 49.8%, and by type of housing; permanent house 38.5% versus semi-permanent house 48.6%. Congestive living and education level of the female caretaker showed a clear trend for a difference in prevalence. Factors independently associated with *H. pylori* colonization included; drugs taken in last three months, using a pit latrine, sources of drinking water, and wealth index (Table 2, Paper I).

The prevalence of *H. pylori* colonization among urban Ugandan children is high at an early age and increases with age. The impact of *H. pylori* colonization on children's health in Uganda needs to be further clarified.

Paper II: "Faecal calprotectin concentrations in apparently healthy children aged 0-12 years in urban Kampala, Uganda: a community-based cross sectional survey"

In the different age groups, the median faecal calprotectin concentrations were 249mg/kg in 0<1 year (n=54), 75mg/kg in 1<4 years (n=89) and 28mg/kg in 4<12 years (n=159) (Figure 2, Paper II). There was no significant difference in faecal calprotectin concentrations and education of the female caretaker, wealth index, gender, habits of using mosquito nets, being colonized with *H. pylori* or having other pathogens in the stool (Table 2, Paper II).

Concentrations of faecal calprotectin among healthy children, living in urban Ugandan, a low- income country, are comparable to those in healthy children living in high-income countries. In children older than 4 years, the faecal calprotectin concentration is low. In healthy infants, faecal calprotectin is high. The suggested cut-off concentrations in the literature can be used in apparently healthy Ugandan children. This finding also shows that healthy children living under poor circumstances do not have constant inflammation in the gut. We see an opportunity to use this relatively inexpensive test for further understanding and investigations of gut inflammation in children living in low-income countries.

Paper III: "Prevalence of *Helicobacter pylori* in HIV-infected, HAART naïve Ugandan children: a hospital-based survey"

236 children (121 female, 115 male) with a mean age of 2.9 ± 2.8 years were enrolled. The prevalence of *H. pylori* antigen was 22.5%. Age specific prevalence's were; 1) for 0<1 year 14.7%, 2) for 1<3 years 30.9%, 3) for 3<12 20.7% (Table 1, Paper III). Low CD4 cell percentage was significant associated with a lower prevalence of *H. pylori*; 12.5% versus 30.4% (Table 2 Paper III). Having HIV WHO stage I (37.5% *H. pylori* colonization) versus WHO stage II-VI (20.8% *H. pylori* colonization), was associated with a 2.3 fold higher prevalence of *H. pylori* (OR=2.3; 95% CI [0.9-5.6]. There was a trend for a difference in prevalence of *H. pylori* in children who had taken antibiotics for the last two weeks (21.6%) versus those who had not (35.7%). There was no significant difference in prevalence by gender, type of housing, congested living, education of female caretaker, drinking water sources or toilet facilities.

HIV-infected, HAART naïve urban Ugandan children had a lower prevalence of *H. pylori* colonization compared to healthy urban Ugandan children. Children with a low CD4 cell percentage and advanced clinical stage of HIV had an even lower risk of *H. pylori* colonization. Treatment with antibiotics due to co-morbidity with infectious diseases is a likely explanation of the relatively low prevalence.

Paper IV: "Faecal calprotectin concentrations in HIV-infected, HAART naïve Ugandan children: a hospital-based survey"

The median faecal calprotectin concentrations in the 193 HIV-infected children, aged 0-12 years in the hospital-based survey 208mg/kg (0 < 1 year), 171mg/kg (1 < 4 years) and 62mg/kg (4 < 12 years) (Figure 2, Paper IV). There was a significantly lower faecal calprotectin concentration in the oldest age group. Thirty four of 59 (57.6%) children older than 4 years of age had faecal calprotectin above 50 mg/ml, and 25 of 59 (42.4%) had faecal calprotectin above 100mg/ml. Children with a high CD4 cell percentage had a significantly lower median faecal calprotectin than those with a low CD4 cell percentage. Children older than 4 years with diarrhoea at enrolment had a significantly higher faecal calprotectin concentration of faecal calprotectin and WHO stage, fever on examination, colonized by *H. pylori*, education of the female caretaker, drinking water or child's habit of using mosquito net.

HIV-infected children older than 4 years had a higher median concentration of faecal calprotectin than apparently healthy children in the same geographical area. They had a higher average faecal calprotectin concentration than the recommended cut-of. Children with more advanced disease had higher faecal calprotectin concentrations regardless of age. More research is needed to see whether faecal calprotectin can be a marker for GI dysfunction in HIV-infected children. We hypothesise that a new tool for investigation of gut engagement in HIV-infected children is available.

5 Discussion

5.1 Methodological issues

The strengths and limitations of the two cross-sectional surveys building the foundation of this thesis and how they appear in the four papers are summarized in table 6. We have defined 3 main categories where strengths and limitations are potential; 1) Relating to precision, 2) Relating to internal validity, and 3) Relating to external validity. The details are discussed in-depth in the following.

5.1.1 Study design

The four papers in this thesis are based on two cross-sectional surveys; one populationbased and one hospital-based. A cross-sectional study gives information on a community at just one point in time, and is so suitable for measuring the prevalence of, but not the incidence of a disease. Another limitation of a cross-sectional study is that it cannot assess causal relationships, only associations. The outcome of a cross-sectional study depends on the sampling method used. The aim, of paper I and III, was to assess the prevalence of H. pylori in apparently healthy and HIV-infected children. We also wanted the healthy population to reflect the children coming to the hospital and therefore we chose to carry out the community-based survey in the neighbouring slum areas of the hospital. This selection should be representative of an urban low-income population of Kampala. The aim of paper II was to assess whether cut-off values for faecal calprotectin used in children in highincome countries were also valid in children in low-income countries. As we found faecal calprotectin in apparently healthy children within the recommended cut-off value, we set out to explore whether it could be a useful method in HIV-infected children, paper IV. We used a cross-sectional design to perform the baseline study both in the apparently healthy children and the HIV-infected children since surveys are often used by finding baseline values.

Both surveys were conducted in an urban area of the biggest city in Uganda. Some of the children in the hospital-based survey came from a more rural area after longer travelling, but most children were from urban Kampala. We do not have a rural population to compare with, which limited our findings in term of the generalization to the rural areas of the country and also rural areas in other sub-Saharan African countries. We have also studied only hospitalized HIV-infected children, which also limits the generalization to non-hospitalized HIV-infected children.

Methodological characteristics	Paper I	Paper II	Paper III	Paper IV
Relating to precision				
Sample size	Adequate	Adequate	Reduced	Adequate
Precision of the estimates of major findings	High Narrow Cl's	High Narrow Cl's	High Narrow CI's	High Narrow Cl's
Laboratory tests used ^a -Sensitivity -Specificity -Accuracy	High High High	High Low High	High High High	High Low High
Feasibility of the tests ^a	Excellent	Good	Excellent	Good
Relating to internal validity				
Selection of the participants: -Inclusion	Consecutive door- to-door	Consecutive door-to- door	Consecutive admitted children	Consecutive admitted children
-Refusais -"Drop-outs" -Potential for selection bias	Few Few Small	99 samples lost Small	Few Few Small	Few Few Small
Potential for recall bias	Limited	Limited	Limited	Limited
Efforts to reduce information bias	Training and pilot prior to study, PI in field daily	Training and pilot prior to study PI in field daily	Regular data quality controls	Regular data quality controls
Efforts to reduce random error	Daily data entry Double data entry Data cleaning Field editing by "Checks" ^b Use of statistics	Daily data entry Double data entry Data cleaning Field editing by "Checks" ^b Use of statistics	Early data entry Double data entry Data cleaning Field editing by "Checks" ^b Use of statistics	Early data entry Double data entry Data cleaning Field editing by "Checks" ^b Use of statistics"
Efforts to reduce Confounding	Multiple logistic regression	Children with diarrhoea and nose bleeding were excluded	Multiple logistic regression	Linear logistic regression
Relating to external validity				
Study design	Cross-sectional	Cross-sectional	Cross-sectional	Cross-sectional
Generalizability	Urban children	Urban children	Urban children Hospitalized HAART naïve	Urban children Hospitalized HAART naïve

Table 6. Methodological characteristics: Strengths and limitations of the studies

H. pylori monoclonal antigen test and ELISA faecal calprotectin "Checks" is explained in chapter 3.2.2 Faecal calprotectin Principal Investigator Confidence Interval а b

FC

ΡI

CI

42

5.1.2. Limitations by comparing the results of the two surveys

Two surveys were conducted in two different populations, apparently healthy children and HIV-infected children. Comparing the results of the two surveys have limitations, but the two studies also have similarities, making a comparison reasonable. Both study populations had children aged 0-12 years, similar gender distributions. The same antigen test and test for detection of faecal calprotectin was used, and both studies were performed in urban areas. Sanitation conditions did not differ much in the two populations. The limitations in comparing them were that one was a community-based with home visits and the other was a hospital-based. In the community-based study, 39% of the participants had taken antibiotics in the last 3 months versus 74% in the hospital-based study.

5.1.3 The sample size

A sample size calculation was done prior to both studies. Sample size calculations were based on reported prevalences of *H. pylori* in children and adults in other sub-Saharan countries. The spread of reported prevalences is large, table 2, and therefore we decided to use 50% prevalence for the sample size calculation, which maximises the sample size and minimises the risk of having a too small sample. In HIV-infected children, there are few reports on the prevalence of *H. pylori*, table 4, but according the literature a lower prevalence than in the apparently healthy children. Open-Epi data was used (<u>http://www.openepi.com</u>) to calculate the sample size needed in the apparently healthy children, assuming a 50% prevalence and using a 95% confidence interval. We calculated the sample size for the whole study population, but did not calculate the power needed for analysis of subgroups in advance of the studies. In paper III, a 30% prevalence and a 95% confidence interval were assumed, we would have needed 323 children. The study was of 236 HIV-infected children. If a prevalence of 22% had been assumed in advance, the sample size calculation would have given us a sample size of 264 children.

For faecal calprotectin, no power calculation was done prior to the studies. We based our assumptions on the literature where no studies with higher participant numbers than those needed for *H. pylori* calculations were found. It was reasonable to use the median, instead of the mean, in paper II and IV because of the expected skewed distribution of faecal calprotectin.

5.1.4 Validity

The results of any research are only as trustworthy as the data upon which they are based. Data may be affected by the study participants, instruments used, people's memories and biological variation. As a result, no epidemiological study will ever be perfect except to minimise errors as far as possible, and then assess the practical effects of any unavoidable error. The validity of an epidemiological study depends on the study design, the study conducted and data analysis. The validity of a test or an instrument is based on its ability to measure what it is intended to measure. The validity of a questionnaire is based on how

close the information collected is to the truth. Validity of a study can suffer due to bias. Validity of a study can be internal and external validity [155, 156].

Internal validity

Internal validity of a study says something about how it provides an unbiased estimate of what it claims to estimate. The usual threats to internal validity are 'selection bias', 'information bias', confounding and chance, which needs to be kept to a minimum either through the study design or the data analysis. In the following paragraphs we will discuss the internal validity of the two surveys.

Selection bias

A selection bias is an error in selecting the study participants. Ideally, to assess the *H. Pylori* prevalence in a population, all subjects in that population should be studied, but this is too time-and money-consuming.

In paper I and II we did a consecutive enrolment in the study conducting door-to-doorvisits, omitting homes with no caretaker at home. This could potentially lead to a selection bias where we maybe have selected the poorest families being at home due to unemployment. In addition, we carried out data collection on Saturdays to try to minimise this. Daily assessment of non-participation revealed on average one to three homes out of ~30 homes with no identifiable caretaker, i.e. less than 10%. We therefore consider the risk for an important selection bias to be small.

In paper III and IV the enrolment was consecutive in the paediatric department; all children admitted who met the inclusion criteria were invited to participate in the study. Remarkably few refusals were reported, and therefore we consider our sample to be representative of children attending the hospital. For paper II, we lost 99 samples, and in paper IV, we lost 26 samples in the transport. By comparing the subjects whose samples were lost with the main sample, by age, sex, socio-demographic factors and medical history, they do not differ essentially from those where faecal calprotectin was analysed. If we had used all the samples, the 95% confidence interval calculated in both papers would have been narrower. In paper IV, if more accurate data on faecal calprotectin had been available, maybe a connection to the WHO staging could have been found, and maybe the difficult explainable sex-difference would have been eradicated. We consider our findings of higher faecal calprotectin in children with more advanced disease, are valid as we had a large sample size (193).

Information bias

An information bias, also referred to as a measurement bias, have several aspects; 1 instrumental errors, 2 underlying variability, 3 respondent errors, 4 observer errors and 5 data-processing errors. Effort must be made to reduce the information bias in a study; high degrees of information bias reduce its precision.

Ad 1 and 2: The faecal monoclonal antigen test we used for detecting *H. pylori* in paper I and III, has a high sensitivity, specificity, and accuracy in children, 91-96, 95-96 and 94-96%, respectively [76, 77]. The test is very easy to use and read. A standard positive control test was performed after every 20 tests, all being verified as positive. The test used for

detecting the levels of faecal calprotectin in paper II and IV, is widely used in the clinic, and a good reproducibility was shown by our group in paper II. The technician who helped in performing the test did this as a part of her routine work. We found support in the literature that faeces could be frozen before testing [157].

The questionnaires used were not influencing the prevalence of *H. pylori* or the levels of faecal calprotectin measured, but they may have been less precise in assessing socioeconomic status. We tried to minimize this error by creating a wealth index using principle component analysis (PCA). We combined 12-15 different assets in the households for the PCA.

Ad 3: We asked questions that required recall: "Has the child had diarrhoea at any time within the last two weeks?" or "Has the child taken any antibiotics within the last three months?" These questions were followed up by linked questions such as "Has your child seen a doctor in the last two weeks/three months?" The data collectors cross-checked the answers if there were inconsistencies in the answers. They tried to achieve consistency without telling the responders what they were seeking. Some questions were prone to eliciting socially desirable answers, for instance the question "Is your child using a mosquito net regularly?". The fact that only 33% responded "yes" to this question shows that social desirability did not gravely bias our studies. For other questions like the status of the sanitation facilities, we requested the data collectors to check these.

Ad 4: To minimize the observer errors, we had a one-week training session prior to the study about the healthy children, and we had a two-day pilot training which was evaluated in advance of the study. Errors that occurred were corrected in the study. To minimize the observer errors concerning the HIV-infected children, E. Hestvik went trough the questionnaires regularly and discussed this with G. Ndeezi, who again had discussions with the data collectors.

Ad 5: To reduce the errors in the data processing, we used logical coding such as "0" for No and "1" for Yes. Data was entered twice, once from the data collector, and once from E. Hestvik which were validated. We used "check" module for the data entering. Even if effort was made to minimize the measurement errors, it is unlikely that all errors were identified.

Confounding

Confounding is a variable that might influence the results without being the component measured. Typical confounders are age, sex and factors linked to each other. Confounding can be understood as a triangle:



Figure 8. Confounding in a cross-sectional survey

We have tried to control for confounding by using multiple logistic regression and adjustments for several factors (shown in table 2 in paper I and table 2 in paper III). After adjustment in the apparently healthy children, we still found a higher prevalence of *H. pylori* in older children. In paper III, we still found a lower prevalence in those with more advanced disease. The unadjusted and adjusted ORs are not significantly different from each other. In paper II, we did not control for confounding by statistical analysis, but all children with nose bleeding or diarrhoea within last two weeks before enrolment were excluded from the analysis. We do not consider that any important confounding factors are attributable in this paper. In paper IV, we controlled in all children and in the subgroup of children older than 4 years whether diarrhoea at enrolment was not a factor on its own but a confounder for a low CD4 cell percentage (data not shown). From linear regression analysis there was no significant change in the median faecal calprotectin with 95% CI after adjusting for diarrhoea. We also adjusted for all factors shown in table 3 in paper IV by linear regression (data not shown), but there were no significant changes in median faecal calprotectin with 95% CI.

Chance

If the results presented in this thesis are not explained by the abovementioned factors, can they be the result of chance? In order to assess this, all results are reported with statistical indicators of the possibility of chance, mainly the 95% confidence intervals. With the rather high numbers of children studied, our confidence intervals are narrow, which means it is unlikely that the results are due to chance.

External validity

Can the results be generalised to a larger population than the one we have studied? The results from paper I and II are found in apparently healthy children, living under slum-like conditions with overall poor sanitation conditions in urban areas. We have to be careful using results generalized to other parts of Uganda or East-Africa, where living conditions may be quite different. In paper III and IV the children were hospitalized and probably 46

sicker than the average HIV-infected child. They had probably received more treatment for opportunistic infections compared to the average HIV-infected child, several were in clinical WHO stage IV. Today the paediatric HAART treatment is being scaled up in Uganda and other sub-Saharan countries, and we will need to conduct other studies to assess the effect of this implementation on the prevalence of *H. pylori*. The effect on the GI tract has to be evaluated in the light of increased accessibility to HAART.

In paper I, we have found an overall prevalence of *H. pylori* of 44.3%, increasing with age, associated with poor living standard and male gender. Our findings are supported by the literature, but it is expected that the exact prevalence will show variations from place to place. In paper III, we have shown that the prevalence of *H. pylori* in HIV-infected children is about half than in apparently healthy children. Several studies have highlighted the low prevalence of *H. pylori* in their findings. Our study adds to a growing body of evidence that HIV-infected children are less frequently infected with *H. pylori*.

Surprisingly few studies have focused on faecal calprotectin in populations in low-income countries, only one report being found [158]. More research is needed before any of the results in those two papers can be generalized.

5.2 Discussion of the findings

5.2.1 Prevalence of Helicobacter pylori

The prevalence of *H. pylori* has been studied extensively since its discovery in 1983 [46], and many surveys have been conducted in low-, middle- and high-income countries. Comparing studies, however, is not easy as the study settings, the diagnostic methods, age of participants and the criteria for inclusion and exclusion differ. Very few studies have been carried out focusing on children, particularly apparently healthy children and no studies have looked at urban children specifically. In HIV-infected children, living in high endemic regions both for HIV and *H. pylori*, no larger studies have been conducted. Commonly, there is a mix of participants with and without different HAART regimes [101]. Many studies are conducted in countries with a low prevalence of HIV and good treatment options for HIV [102, 103]. One sub-Saharan study was performed with children reporting to have gastrointestinal complications [101]. As far as we know, no prevalence studies of *H. pylori* in Ugandan children had been carried out before our surveys.

We found an overall prevalence of 44.3% in the apparently healthy population, with an increasing prevalence with age. In the HIV-infected children, the prevalence was 22.5% with the highest prevalence among children aged 1-3 years. A comparison of the prevalences in the surveys is shown in Figure 2, Paper III. The prevalence found in apparently healthy children compares well with the range of prevalences reported from other sub-Saharan African countries [15, 16, 84-86, 88, 107-109].

In HIV-infected children, the literature is much more limited, and a comparison is more complicated. To the best of our knowledge, only three papers have reported the prevalence of H. pylori in HIV-infected children [101-103], and none in exclusively HAART naïve children. Despite the difference found in prevalence rates of H. pylori among HIV-infected children and adults, many studies point to a lower prevalence in the HIV-infected population compared to non-HIV-infected populations, but the findings are not universal. The controversies are well documented in table 1 in the review by Romanelli et al. 2007 [104]. Our survey is one of the largest studies carried out in an HIV-infected population. In contrast, almost all studies show that the prevalence of *H. pylori* in HIV-infected children is lower, especially in areas with a high prevalence of HIV and *H. pylori*. We found that *H*. pylori colonization was significantly higher in children aged 1-3 years compared to children younger than 1 year of age. This is comparable to data from apparently healthy children from the same region [159], but it has not been described previously among HIV-infected children in this age group. In our survey, the prevalences in all age groups are lower than those in apparently healthy children. We speculate that the colonization rates among the HIV-infected are the same as in apparently healthy children, but the use of antibiotics in the HIV-infected children is high, which is enough to decrease the prevalence. Seventy-four percent of the children had taken antibiotics within the last 3 months and 95% of the survey participants were on antibiotics at enrolment or had taken antibiotics within the preceding two weeks, which might explain the lower colonization rates. The use of antibiotics against opportunistic infections in HIV-infected populations is the most hypothesised explanation for lower colonization rates [104, 160, 161]. The difference between HIV-infected children

not treated or treated with antibiotics is not significant mainly due to the low numbers of untreated subjects.

5.2.2 Factors associated with Helicobacter pylori colonization

Several studies have shown a high prevalence of *H. pylori* among people in low-income countries [16, 84-86]. Well recognized risk factors include crowded living conditions in childhood, a large number of siblings and unclean water [86, 162]. A meta-analysis of 10 studies conducted over the last 20 years [163] failed to find a difference in prevalence of H. *pylori* according to gender. In apparently healthy children in our survey, the factors found to be significantly associated with H. pylori colonization were male gender and semipermanent housing. Those living in semi-permanent housing might represent a lower socioeconomic status than those living in permanent houses (table 2 Paper I). Congested living with more than 4 people in the household was associated with an increase in H. pylori prevalence, but it was not significant. We did not found that the prevalence of *H. pylori* colonization was increased with decreasing socio-economic status of the family as found in other studies from the same region [16, 86, 164]. A possible explanation is the small socioeconomic differences in our study population; the study was conducted in one parish only and within an area characterized by informal settlements, congested living, lack of proper sanitation conditions, low education level among adults and small variation in income per family. Almost 90% of the participants in our survey got drinking water from a public tap; Plan International[®] has provided the parish with tap water at subsidized prices.

In HIV-infected populations, it has been shown that the prevalence of *H. pylori* is lower when CD4 cell count is low [101, 105]. In a study from Argentina of adults [105], the authors conclude that HIV-infected patients with *H. pylori* had a higher mean CD4 cell count than those without *H. pylori*, and a Zambian study also of adults [106] showed that HIV-infected adult patients with CD4 cell counts below 200cells/mm³ were less likely to have positive *H. pylori* serology. Unfortunately, none of these studies have reported a CD4 cell count in percentage in children. We identified a statistically significantly lower colonization rate of *H. pylori* in HIV-infected children, we could not find the same associations as found in the non-HIV-infected children. There was no significant difference in prevalence by sex, type of housing, congested living, education of female caretaker, drinking water sources, toilet facilities, reported abdominal pain or wealth index. A possible explanation for the lack of such association, as described in the non-HIV-infected children [16, 86, 159, 164], is that the impact of the CD4 cell percentage is strong and is independent of the above mentioned factors.

5.2.3 Concentrations of faecal calprotectin

Calprotectin was discovered in 1979 and soon came into use to distinguish IBD from other GI disorders. With time, other conditions causing elevated levels of faecal calprotectin were found. Prior to this thesis, all research on calprotectin was conducted in high-income countries. The prevalence of diseases in the GI tract in high-income countries is different compared with sub-Saharan Africa with lack of studies on prevalence of for instance IBD

and celiac disease, but with a high burden of infectious diseases in the GI tract. In 2000, a new method for detecting faecal calprotectin was established [157] that was more accurate, easier to perform and required smaller amounts of faeces. Normal values for faecal calprotectin have been established in children and adults, table 7. The upper cut-off point is still under debate, which upper limits provide the best sensitivity and accuracy? Several studies have also looked at levels of faecal calprotectin, by upper and lower GI infections, but most of these studies had a limited number of infections, different stages of infection. No conclusions on concentrations in different infections can be drawn from the existing literature.

Author	Age	Number of	Assay	Median FC (mg/kg)	95% CI
		participants			
Fagerberg [125]	4-17 years	117	New	13.6	9.9-19.5
Olafsdottir [126]	1-13 years	24	New	40 ^a	28 ^b
Berni Canani	1-18 years	76	New	28	3-95.3 °
[146]		_			d = a aad
Bremner [145]	5-14 years	1	New	<15.6	<15.6-39°
Nissen [165]	1-15 years	21	New	17	7-41 ^a
Carroccio [166]	1-10 years	10	New	15	10-40
Bunn [137]	1.5-15.3 years	31	Old	10.5 ^e	2.5-31.5 ^e
Carroccio [166]	adults	10	New	20	10-40
Tøn [157]	adults	59	New	26	20-36
Tibble [167]	adults	96	Old	11.5 ^e	8-25 ^e
Røseth [140]	adults	53	Old	15 ^e	35 ^{e, f}
Hestvik [168]	0-1 year	54	New	249	180-403
	1-4 years	89	New	75	53-119
	4-12 years	159	New	28	25-35

Table 7. Faecal calprotectin concentrations in apparently healthy children and adults

^a mean value

^b standard deviation

j 5th and 95th percentile

^d range

original data in mg/L, multiplied with factor 5 to get mg/kg [157]

^t Røseth choose 10mg/l as the upper limit, no lower limit reported

[] reference number

CI confidence interval

FC faecal calprotectin

In our survey on apparently healthy children, all those who reported having had diarrhoea or had had nasal bleeding within the last two weeks before the study, were excluded, but we did not exclude those with detected GI infections. The median faecal calprotectin concentration in children older than 4 years of age was 28mg/kg, and within the cut-off level suggested for that test. Based on this, we concluded that cut-off limits used in children living in high-income countries could be used in children, and most likely also in adults in low-income countries. Those children were healthy, but they were colonized with more pathogens than children in high-income countries. Studies have shown that adults with

Giardia intestinalis have comparable levels [169]. Colonization with *H. pylori* can cause changes in the gastric mucosa [170], but upper-GI disorders have shown little increase in faecal calprotectin levels [171]. A study from Uganda on children and adults infected with *Schistosomiasis*, could not find increased levels of faecal calprotectin in those infected compared to those not infected [158]. By identifying elevated levels of faecal calprotectin in children living in low-income countries, the follow-up might have to be different from that in children living in high-income countries due to the known differences in the underlying causes of GI disorders. Initially, GI pathogens have to be eliminated as the cause of the increased concentrations, and only thereafter more rare conditions causing increased GI permeability like IBD, celiac disease and cancer should be searched for.

To the best of our knowledge, our study of the concentrations of faecal calprotectin in an HIV-infected, HAART naïve population is the first to be conducted in children. Only one study in Italian adults has been published before, and they found that faecal calprotectin was higher than 50 mg/ml in 27 of 53 HIV-infected, HAART naïve adult patients [41]. This is comparable to our findings in children, 34 of 59 had levels higher than 50mg/ml. In the study children, we did not exclude those with diarrhoea, and nasal bleeding was not reported in any of the children. The two populations had different exclusion criteria and a direct comparison is difficult, but in spite of this we found more than two-fold increase in the median faecal calprotectin concentration in children older than 4 years of age, 62mg/kg and a median concentration over the recommended cut-off level for the test. We do know that persons presenting with advanced HIV disease have involvement of the GI tract in their diseases: it is reasonable that the faecal calprotectin increased with more advanced disease. This is an indicator for an ongoing inflammation of the gut in the HIV-infected children. They have an impaired gut mucosa with increased permeability, which again can lead to loss of micronutrients, proteins and a damaged gut/blood barrier and an increased chance of bacteraemia.

5.2.4 Concentrations of faecal calprotectin in children younger than 4 years of

age

In children younger than 4 years of age, there are no established reference values. Several studies have shown that the concentrations decrease with age [126, 127] which agree with our decrease (table 1, Paper II). The concentrations found in the apparently healthy children are comparable to those reported elsewhere [126, 165]. In the HIV-infected children, the concentrations in the youngest children were high and comparable with those in non-HIV-infected children. This might be explained by a naturally high permeability of the gut in healthy infants. In the HIV-infected toddlers, aged 1-4 years, the median faecal calprotectin was 2.3 fold higher than in the apparently healthy children, and in the HIV-infected children, aged 4-12 years a 2.5 fold increased levels was found compared to non-infected children. In healthy toddlers, the permeability of the gut is decreasing and the levels of faecal concentration are decreasing, but in HIV-infected children, the gut is repeatedly exposed to different pathogens, repeatedly treated with antibiotics due to opportunistic infection, and some might have developed an HIV enteropathy. Those factors could explain the elevated levels of faecal calprotectin in this age group. A comparison of all age groups of non-HIV and HIV-infected children is shown in figure 9.





5.2.5 Factors associated with increased concentrations of faecal calprotectin

Increased concentrations of faecal calprotectin are caused by an increase of neutrophils in the gut and the two main factors shown are increased gut permeability and bleeding into the GI-tract. Gut inflammation will lead to increased permeability. It is estimated that a blood loss of about 100ml/day would be required to bring the level above the upper reference limit [140]. In our surveys, we have excluded those with nose bleeding, which can cause a blood loss of 100ml/day or more. None of the girls included had started having menstrual bleeding. Røseth [140] argued that GI haemorrhage due to GI cancer is an unlikely source of increased faecal calprotectin. The increase of faecal calprotectin in our HIV-infected populations is most likely due to gut inflammation and increased permeability. In paper II, we have shown that two common pathogens, H. pylori and Giardia intestinalis, were not causing increased levels of faecal calprotectin. An Ugandan study of children and adults with Schistosomiasis, increased levels of faecal calprotectin were not found [172]. Only 8.2% of the children in the apparently healthy population had other pathogens than H. pylori and Giardia intestinalis found by microscopy or faecal culture; and even those infected had a median faecal calprotectin below the recommended cut-off value. We have also shown that faecal calprotectin levels are independent of education of the female caretaker, health behaviour and wealth index. In the apparently healthy population, we did not check for

viruses or crypto-and microsporidia infections. But if infected, as long as they were asymptomatic, they were unlikely to have an increased permeability of their gut.

In the HIV-infected children, faecal calprotectin was detectable in all children regardless of age, clinical staging of HIV and CD4 cell percentage. This shows that immunosuppressed people are capable of producing calprotectin and that they have variability in their concentrations of faecal calprotectin similar to immunocompetent subjects. We therefore conclude that faecal calprotectin can be used in HIV-infected persons. HIV-infected children with ongoing diarrhoea had significantly higher levels of faecal calprotectin than those without diarrhoea. The higher median concentration of faecal calprotectin in those with ongoing diarrhoea can be explained by increased gut permeability caused by pathogens, but also by HIV enteropathy [23]. Only in three children older than 4 years of age were pathogens others than *H. pylori* detected, one with *E.coli*, one with hook worm and one with *Giardia intestinalis*.

In our survey of HIV-infected children the faecal calprotectin concentrations increased as the CD4 cell percentage decreased (table 2 Paper IV). This is reflecting that children with more advanced disease have increased inflammation of the gut. This shows that faecal calprotectin is a useful marker in an HIV-infected population. Faecal calprotectin is mainly found in the neutrophils and is not influenced by the decrease in lymphocytes seen in HIV-infected persons. More research is needed to determine whether faecal calprotectin can be a marker for GI dysfunction in HIV-infected children. We hypothesise that we have a new tool for investigation of gut engagement in HIV-infected children.

6 Research challenges

H. pylori is classified as a group I carcinogen [51], and is associated with a 1-2% lifetime risk of gastric cancer [55]. At Mulago Hospital where our second survey took place and where many of the children encountered in the first survey sought medical advice, there was no established method for detecting of *H. pylori* colonization. Gastroscopy was not available on a regular basis. Gastric cancer in adults frequently went undiagnosed.

In the joint European and North-American guideline [81], the recommendation is not to test asymptomatic children for *H. pylori*. Testing for *H. pylori* in asymptomatic children can be considered if a first degree relative has gastric cancer or in children with refractory iron deficiency anaemia. To treat *H. pylori* infections is only recommended if a child has clinical symptoms or if a gastric ulcer is detected by gastroscopy with or without a positive test of *H. pylori*. Several studies of children have indicated that *H. pylori* can play a role in growth failure [15, 173] and iron deficiency [174], and both these problems are common in Ugandan children [175, 176]. Due to the known high prevalence of *H. pylori* in Uganda and sub-Saharan Africa, diagnostic tools for detection need to be considered, and more research on treatment strategies according to resistance problems should be initiated. Guidelines for management of *H. pylori* infection in endemic low-income countries are urgently required.

Faecal calprotectin is a "new tool" in gastroenterology in Uganda. We know that many children suffer from acute and persistent diarrhoea in Uganda. For those suffering from acute diarrhoea, fluid treatment is necessary, and good guidelines are available. For those with persistent diarrhoea, all types of pathogens must be detected and eventually treated. Here we have found a lack of good guidelines for work-up and treatment. In many cases, there will be no identifiable pathogen causing the diarrhoea. They may suffer from other conditions like IBD, celiac disease, food allergy/intolerance, etc. Due to the lack of opportunities to perform gastroscopy, faecal calprotectin might here be a tool to distinguish between different conditions, helping to choose a treatment strategy and follow up treatment response. The burden of disease of persistent diarrhoea is remarkable. Effort must be made to find good methods to monitor and treat the condition; faecal calprotectin can be a tool to follow up the degree of gut inflammation in children. In several medical centres in Uganda, the equipment needed to perform ELISA is available, and due to the quality of faecal calprotectin being stable at ambient temperature for a longer time, faeces can be sent by regular mail to centres for testing. The role of faecal calprotectin in HIV-infected children needs more research, but our findings show that faecal calprotectin is a tool to be used in the diagnosis and follow up of HIV-infected children. Can repeated individual faecal calprotectin measurements be used as a risk marker for developing GI failure in HIVinfected children and adults?

7 Conclusions

The surveys presented in this thesis show that colonization with *H. pylori* is common, even in apparently healthy young children in Uganda (44.3%). It is increasing with age and is associated with poor socio-economic status and boys are more at risk than girls (Paper I).

HIV-infected children had a lower prevalence of *H. pylori* (22.5%) than apparently healthy children in the same geographical area. Children with more advanced disease had a lower prevalence; this might be due to frequent use of antibiotics for opportunistic infections (Paper II). In other studies, it is suggested that *H. pylori* causes growth failure and micronutrient deficiencies, but no such studies have been carried out in Uganda. The impact of *H. pylori* on children's health in Uganda [177] needs to be further clarified.

Cut-off limits for faecal calprotectin, suggested used in children living in high-income countries, can also be used in Ugandan children (Paper III). We have shown that pathogens inhabiting the upper gastrointestinal tract have limited influence on the faecal calprotectin. There is an opportunity to use this relatively inexpensive test for further understanding and investigations of gut inflammation in children living in low-income countries.

Faecal calprotectin can be measured in HIV-infected children, and we suggest that it can be used as a tool for evaluating gut inflammation. In our survey, we found it to be higher in those with more advanced disease (Paper IV). The diagnostic value of faecal calprotectin in HIV-infected children, and its use in follow up the gut function in those infected children, need to be further clarified.

8 References

- 1. Alfven G: The covariation of common psychosomatic symptoms among children from socio-economically differing residential areas. An epidemiological study. *Acta Paediatr* 1993, **82:**484-487.
- 2. Hyams JS, Burke G, Davis PM, Rzepski B, Andrulonis PA: **Abdominal pain and irritable bowel syndrome in adolescents: a community-based study.** *J Pediatr* 1996, **129:**220-226.
- 3. Bryce J, Boschi-Pinto C, Shibuya K, Black RE: WHO estimates of the causes of death in children. *Lancet* 2005, **365**:1147-1152.
- 4. Lima AA, Moore SR, Barboza MS, Jr., Soares AM, Schleupner MA, Newman RD, Sears CL, Nataro JP, Fedorko DP, Wuhib T, et al: **Persistent diarrhea signals a critical period of increased diarrhea burdens and nutritional shortfalls: a prospective cohort study among children in northeastern Brazil.** J Infect Dis 2000, **181**:1643-1651.
- 5. Lukacik M, Thomas RL, Aranda JV: A meta-analysis of the effects of oral zinc in the treatment of acute and persistent diarrhea. *Pediatrics* 2008, **121**:326-336.
- 6. Villamor E, Mbise R, Spiegelman D, Hertzmark E, Fataki M, Peterson KE, Ndossi G, Fawzi WW: Vitamin A supplements ameliorate the adverse effect of HIV-1, malaria, and diarrheal infections on child growth. *Pediatrics* 2002, 109:E6.
- 7. Guerrant DI, Moore SR, Lima AA, Patrick PD, Schorling JB, Guerrant RL: Association of early childhood diarrhea and cryptosporidiosis with impaired physical fitness and cognitive function four-seven years later in a poor urban community in northeast Brazil. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* 1999, **61**:707-713.
- 8. Black RE, Allen LH, Bhutta ZA, Caulfield LE, de Onis M, Ezzati M, Mathers C, Rivera J: Maternal and child undernutrition: global and regional exposures and health consequences. *Lancet* 2008, **371:**243-260.
- 9. Kosek M, Bern C, Guerrant RL: The global burden of diarrhoeal disease, as estimated from studies published between 1992 and 2000. *Bull World Health* Organ 2003, 81:197-204.
- 10. Wardlaw T, Salama P, Brocklehurst C, Chopra M, Mason E: **Diarrhoea: why** children are still dying and what can be done. *Lancet* 2010, 375:870-872.
- 11. UNICEF W: **Diarrhoea: Why children are still dying and what can be done.** *United Nations Children's Fund, New York* 2009.
- 12. Moore SR, Lima NL, Soares AM, Oria RB, Pinkerton RC, Barrett LJ, Guerrant RL, Lima AA: **Prolonged episodes of acute diarrhea reduce growth and increase risk of persistent diarrhea in children.** *Gastroenterology* 2010, **139**:1156-1164.
- 13. Ochoa TJ, Ecker L, Barletta F, Mispireta ML, Gil AI, Contreras C, Molina M, Amemiya I, Verastegui H, Hall ER, et al: Age-related susceptibility to infection with diarrheagenic Escherichia coli among infants from Periurban areas in Lima, Peru. Clin Infect Dis 2009, 49:1694-1702.
- 14. Coles CL, Levy A, Dagan R, Deckelbaum RJ, Fraser D: **Risk factors for the initial symptomatic giardia infection in a cohort of young Arab-Bedouin children.** *Ann Trop Paediatr* 2009, **29:**291-300.

- 15. Thomas JE, Dale A, Bunn JE, Harding M, Coward WA, Cole TJ, Weaver LT: Early Helicobacter pylori colonisation: the association with growth faltering in The Gambia. *Arch Dis Child* 2004, **89:**1149-1154.
- 16. Ndip RN, Malange AE, Akoachere JF, MacKay WG, Titanji VP, Weaver LT: Helicobacter pylori antigens in the faeces of asymptomatic children in the Buea and Limbe health districts of Cameroon: a pilot study. Trop Med Int Health 2004, 9:1036-1040.
- Dube C, Nkosi TC, Clarke AM, Mkwetshana N, Green E, Ndip RN: Helicobacter pylori antigenemia in an asymptomatic population of Eastern Cape Province, South Africa: public health implications. *Rev Environ Health* 2009, 24:249-255.
- Schoepfer AM, Trummler M, Seeholzer P, Seibold-Schmid B, Seibold F: Discriminating IBD from IBS: comparison of the test performance of fecal markers, blood leukocytes, CRP, and IBD antibodies. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 2008, 14:32-39.
- 19. Wallace MR, Brann OS: Gastrointestinal manifestations of HIV infection. *Curr Gastroenterol Rep* 2000, **2**:283-293.
- 20. Sharpstone D, Gazzard B: Gastrointestinal manifestations of HIV infection. *Lancet* 1996, **348**:379-383.
- 21. Battan R, Raviglione MC, Palagiano A, Boyle JF, Sabatini MT, Sayad K, Ottaviano LJ: Helicobacter pylori infection in patients with acquired immune deficiency syndrome. *Am J Gastroenterol* 1990, **85:**1576-1579.
- Narwal S, Galeano NF, Pottenger E, Kazlow PG, Husain S, DeFelice AR: Idiopathic Esophageal ulcers in a child with AIDS. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 1997, 24:211-214.
- 23. Cello JP, Day LW: Idiopathic AIDS enteropathy and treatment of gastrointestinal opportunistic pathogens. *Gastroenterology* 2009, **136**:1952-1965.
- 24. WHO: UNAIDS 2008 Report on Global AIDS epidemic. Geneva, Switzerland; 2008.
- 25. Lugada ES, Mermin J, Kaharuza F, Ulvestad E, Were W, Langeland N, Asjo B, Malamba S, Downing R: **Population-based hematologic and immunologic** reference values for a healthy Ugandan population. *Clin Diagn Lab Immunol* 2004, 11:29-34.
- WHO: Antiretroviral therapy of HIV infection in infants and children; Recommendations for a public health approach. Geneva, Switzerland: WHO; 2006.
- WHO: Antiretroviral therapy for HIV infection in infants and children: Towards universal accessRecommendations for a public health approach: 2010 revision. vol. Availible at: <u>http://www.who.int/hiv/pub/paediatric/infants2010/en/index.html</u> Accessed 10 Mai 2011. Geneva, Switzerland 2010.
- Senya C, Mehta A, Harwell JI, Pugatch D, Flanigan T, Mayer KH: Spectrum of opportunistic infections in hospitalized HIV-infected patients in Phnom Penh, Cambodia. Int J STD AIDS 2003, 14:411-416.
- 29. Kearney DJ, Steuerwald M, Koch J, Cello JP: A prospective study of endoscopy in HIV-associated diarrhea. *Am J Gastroenterol* 1999, **94**:596-602.

- 30. Knox TA, Spiegelman D, Skinner SC, Gorbach S: Diarrhea and abnormalities of gastrointestinal function in a cohort of men and women with HIV infection. *Am J Gastroenterol* 2000, **95**:3482-3489.
- 31. Tumwine JK, Kekitiinwa A, Bakeera-Kitaka S, Ndeezi G, Downing R, Feng X, Akiyoshi DE, Tzipori S: Cryptosporidiosis and microsporidiosis in ugandan children with persistent diarrhea with and without concurrent infection with the human immunodeficiency virus. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* 2005, **73**:921-925.
- 32. Spira R, Lepage P, Msellati P, Van De Perre P, Leroy V, Simonon A, Karita E, Dabis F: Natural history of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection in children: a five-year prospective study in Rwanda. Mother-to-Child HIV-1 Transmission Study Group. *Pediatrics* 1999, 104:e56.
- 33. Chakraborty R: Infections and other causes of death in HIV-infected children in Africa. *Paediatr Respir Rev* 2004, **5**:132-139.
- 34. Abubakar I, Aliyu SH, Arumugam C, Hunter PR, Usman NK: **Prevention and** treatment of cryptosporidiosis in immunocompromised patients. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2007:CD004932.
- 35. Bjarnason I, Sharpstone DR, Francis N, Marker A, Taylor C, Barrett M, Macpherson A, Baldwin C, Menzies IS, Crane RC, et al: Intestinal inflammation, ileal structure and function in HIV. *AIDS* 1996, **10**:1385-1391.
- 36. Keating J, Bjarnason I, Somasundaram S, Macpherson A, Francis N, Price AB, Sharpstone D, Smithson J, Menzies IS, Gazzard BG: Intestinal absorptive capacity, intestinal permeability and jejunal histology in HIV and their relation to diarrhoea. Gut 1995, 37:623-629.
- 37. Sharpstone D, Neild P, Crane R, Taylor C, Hodgson C, Sherwood R, Gazzard B, Bjarnason I: Small intestinal transit, absorption, and permeability in patients with AIDS with and without diarrhoea. *Gut* 1999, **45:**70-76.
- 38. Jirapinyo P, Brewster D, De Menzes Succi RC, Guarino A, Heyman M, Winter H, Wittenberg D: HIV disease: Working group report of the first world congress of pediatric gastroenterology, hepatology and nutrition. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2002, 35:S134-S142.
- 39. Guarino A, Albano F, Tarallo L: Intestinal malabsorption of HIV infected children : relationship to diarrhoea, failure to thrive , enteric microorganisms and immune impairment. *AIDS* 1993, 7:1435-1440.
- 40. Greenson JK, Belitsos PC, Yardley JH, Bartlett JG: **AIDS enteropathy: occult** enteric infections and duodenal mucosal alterations in chronic diarrhea. *Ann Intern Med* 1991, **114:**366-372.
- 41. Gori A, Tincati C, Rizzardini G, Torti C, Quirino T, Haarman M, Ben Amor K, van Schaik J, Vriesema A, Knol J, et al: Early impairment of gut function and gut flora supporting a role for alteration of gastrointestinal mucosa in human immunodeficiency virus pathogenesis. J Clin Microbiol 2008, 46:757-758.
- 42. Wilcox CM, Saag MS: Gastrointestinal complications of HIV infection: changing priorities in the HAART era. *Gut* 2008, **57**:861-870.
- 43. Kotler DP: Intestinal disease associated with HIV infection: characterization and response to antiretroviral therapy. *Pathobiology* 1998, **66**:183-188.
- 44. Batman PA, Kotler DP, Kapembwa MS, Booth D, Potten CS, Orenstein JM, Scally AJ, Griffin GE: **HIV enteropathy: crypt stem and transit cell hyperproliferation**

induces villous atrophy in HIV/Microsporidia-infected jejunal mucosa. *AIDS* 2007, **21:**433-439.

- 45. Go MF: **Review article: natural history and epidemiology of Helicobacter pylori** infection. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 2002, **16 Suppl 1:3**-15.
- 46. Marshall: Unidentified curved bacilli on gastric epithelium in active chronic gastritis. *Lancet* 1983, 1:1273-1275.
- 47. Krienitz W: Über das Auftreten von Spirochaeten verschiedener Form in Mageninhalt bei Carcinoma ventriculi. Dtsch Med Wschr 1906:872.
- 48. Salomon H: Über das Spirillum des Saugetiermagens und sei Verhalten zu den Belegzellen *Zbl Bakt* 1896:433-442.
- 49. Goodwin C, Armstrong J, Chilvers T, Peters M, Collins D, Sly L, McConell W, Harper W: Transfer of Campylobacter pylori and Campylobacter mustelae to Helicobacter gen. nov. as Helicobacter pylori comb. nov. and Helicobacter mustelae comb. nov., Respectively. Int J Syst Bacteriol 1989, **39**:397-405.
- 50. NIH Consensus Conference. Helicobacter pylori in peptic ulcer disease. NIH Consensus Development Panel on Helicobacter pylori in Peptic Ulcer Disease. JAMA 1994, 272:65-69.
- 51. Schistosomes, liver flukes and Helicobacter pylori. IARC Working Group on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans. Lyon, 7-14 June 1994. *IARC Monogr Eval Carcinog Risks Hum* 1994, **61**:1-241.
- 52. Scott D, Weeks D, Melchers K, Sachs G: The life and death of Helicobacter pylori. *Gut* 1998, 43 Suppl 1:S56-60.
- 53. Noach LA, Rolf TM, Tytgat GN: Electron microscopic study of association between Helicobacter pylori and gastric and duodenal mucosa. *J Clin Pathol* 1994, **47:**699-704.
- Dytoc M, Gold B, Louie M, Huesca M, Fedorko L, Crowe S, Lingwood C, Brunton J, Sherman P: Comparison of Helicobacter pylori and attaching-effacing Escherichia coli adhesion to eukaryotic cells. *Infect Immun* 1993, 61:448-456.
- 55. Kusters JG, van Vliet AH, Kuipers EJ: **Pathogenesis of Helicobacter pylori** infection. *Clin Microbiol Rev* 2006, **19:**449-490.
- 56. Ilver D, Arnqvist A, Ogren J, Frick IM, Kersulyte D, Incecik ET, Berg DE, Covacci A, Engstrand L, Boren T: Helicobacter pylori adhesin binding fucosylated histoblood group antigens revealed by retagging. *Science* 1998, 279:373-377.
- 57. Yamaoka Y, Kwon DH, Graham DY: A M(r) 34,000 proinflammatory outer membrane protein (oipA) of Helicobacter pylori. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2000, 97:7533-7538.
- 58. Mahdavi J, Sonden B, Hurtig M, Olfat FO, Forsberg L, Roche N, Angstrom J, Larsson T, Teneberg S, Karlsson KA, et al: **Helicobacter pylori SabA adhesin in persistent infection and chronic inflammation.** *Science* 2002, **297:**573-578.
- 59. Mobley HL: Defining Helicobacter pylori as a pathogen: strain heterogeneity and virulence. *Am J Med* 1996, **100**:2S-9S; discussion 9S-11S.
- Tee W, Lambert JR, Dwyer B: Cytotoxin production by Helicobacter pylori from patients with upper gastrointestinal tract diseases. J Clin Microbiol 1995, 33:1203-1205.
- 61. Fox JG, Correa P, Taylor NS, Thompson N, Fontham E, Janney F, Sobhan M, Ruiz B, Hunter F: **High prevalence and persistence of cytotoxin-positive Helicobacter**

pylori strains in a population with high prevalence of atrophic gastritis. *Am J Gastroenterol* 1992, **87:**1554-1560.

- 62. Tombola F, Morbiato L, Del Giudice G, Rappuoli R, Zoratti M, Papini E: The Helicobacter pylori VacA toxin is a urea permease that promotes urea diffusion across epithelia. J Clin Invest 2001, 108:929-937.
- Letley DP, Rhead JL, Twells RJ, Dove B, Atherton JC: Determinants of nontoxicity in the gastric pathogen Helicobacter pylori. *J Biol Chem* 2003, 278:26734-26741.
- 64. Telford JL, Ghiara P, Dell'Orco M, Comanducci M, Burroni D, Bugnoli M, Tecce MF, Censini S, Covacci A, Xiang Z, et al.: Gene structure of the Helicobacter pylori cytotoxin and evidence of its key role in gastric disease. *J Exp Med* 1994, 179:1653-1658.
- 65. Covacci A, Censini S, Bugnoli M, Petracca R, Burroni D, Macchia G, Massone A, Papini E, Xiang Z, Figura N, et al.: Molecular characterization of the 128-kDa immunodominant antigen of Helicobacter pylori associated with cytotoxicity and duodenal ulcer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1993, 90:5791-5795.
- Crabtree JE, Figura N, Taylor JD, Bugnoli M, Armellini D, Tompkins DS: Expression of 120 kilodalton protein and cytotoxicity in Helicobacter pylori. J Clin Pathol 1992, 45:733-734.
- 67. Crabtree JE, Taylor JD, Wyatt JI, Heatley RV, Shallcross TM, Tompkins DS, Rathbone BJ: Mucosal IgA recognition of Helicobacter pylori 120 kDa protein, peptic ulceration, and gastric pathology. *Lancet* 1991, **338**:332-335.
- 68. Blaser MJ, Perez-Perez GI, Kleanthous H, Cover TL, Peek RM, Chyou PH, Stemmermann GN, Nomura A: Infection with Helicobacter pylori strains possessing cagA is associated with an increased risk of developing adenocarcinoma of the stomach. *Cancer Res* 1995, **55**:2111-2115.
- 69. Parsonnet J, Friedman GD, Orentreich N, Vogelman H: Risk for gastric cancer in people with CagA positive or CagA negative Helicobacter pylori infection. *Gut* 1997, **40**:297-301.
- Crabtree JE, Farmery SM, Lindley IJ, Figura N, Peichl P, Tompkins DS: CagA/cytotoxic strains of Helicobacter pylori and interleukin-8 in gastric epithelial cell lines. J Clin Pathol 1994, 47:945-950.
- 71. Blaser MJ: Role of vacA and the cagA locus of Helicobacter pylori in human disease. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 1996, **10** Suppl 1:73-77.
- 72. Figura N: Helicobacter pylori exotoxins and gastroduodenal diseases associated with cytotoxic strain infection. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* 1996, **10 Suppl 1:**79-96.
- 73. Spechler SJ, Fischbach L, Feldman M: Clinical aspects of genetic variability in Helicobacter pylori. *Jama* 2000, **283**:1264-1266.
- 74. Frenck RW, Jr., Fathy HM, Sherif M, Mohran Z, El Mohammedy H, Francis W, Rockabrand D, Mounir BI, Rozmajzl P, Frierson HF: Sensitivity and specificity of various tests for the diagnosis of Helicobacter pylori in Egyptian children. *Pediatrics* 2006, **118**:e1195-1202.
- 75. de Carvalho Costa Cardinali L, Rocha GA, Rocha AM, de Moura SB, de Figueiredo Soares T, Esteves AM, Nogueira AM, Cabral MM, de Carvalho AS, Bitencourt P, et al: Evaluation of [13C]urea breath test and Helicobacter pylori stool antigen test for diagnosis of H. pylori infection in children from a developing country. J Clin Microbiol 2003, 41:3334-3335.

- 76. Kato S, Ozawa K, Okuda M, Nakayama Y, Yoshimura N, Konno M, Minoura T, Iinuma K: **Multicenter comparison of rapid lateral flow stool antigen immunoassay and stool antigen enzyme immunoassay for the diagnosis of Helicobacter pylori infection in children.** *Helicobacter* 2004, **9**:669-673.
- Nares-Cisneros J, Jaramillo-Rodriguez Y, Martinez-Ordaz VA, Velasco-Rodriguez VM, Madero A, Mena-Arias G, Manriquez-Covarrubias L: Immunochromatographic monoclonal test for detection of Helicobacter pylori antigen in stool is useful in children from high-prevalence developing country. Helicobacter 2007, 12:354-358.
- 78. Perri F, Pastore M, Clemente R, Festa V, Quitadamo M, Niro G, Conoscitore P, Rutgeerts P, Andriulli A: Helicobacter pylori infection may undergo spontaneous eradication in children: a 2-year follow-up study. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 1998, 27:181-183.
- 79. Lepper PM, Moricke A, Vogt K, Bode G, Trautmann M: **Comparison of different** criteria for interpretation of immunoglobulin G immunoblotting results for diagnosis of Helicobacter pylori infection. *Clin Diagn Lab Immunol* 2004, 11:569-576.
- 80. Lee A, Logan SM, Trust TJ: **Demonstration of a flagellar antigen shared by a** diverse group of spiral-shaped bacteria that colonize intestinal mucus. *Infect Immun* 1987, **55**:828-831.
- Koletzko S, Jones NL, Goodman KJ, Gold B, Rowland M, Cadranel S, Chong S, Colletti RB, Casswall T, Elitsur Y, et al: Evidence-based guidelines from ESPGHAN and NASPGHAN for Helicobacter pylori infection in children. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2011.
- Wizla-Derambure N, Michaud L, Ategbo S, Vincent P, Ganga-Zandzou S, Turck D, Gottrand F: Familial and community environmental risk factors for Helicobacter pylori infection in children and adolescents. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr* 2001, 33:58-63.
- McCallion WA, Murray LJ, Bailie AG, Dalzell AM, O'Reilly DP, Bamford KB: Helicobacter pylori infection in children: relation with current household living conditions. *Gut* 1996, 39:18-21.
- 84. Pelser HH, Househam KC, Joubert G, van der Linde G, Kraaij P, Meinardi M, McLeod A, Anthony M: **Prevalence of Helicobacter pylori antibodies in children in Bloemfontein, South Africa.** *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr* 1997, **24:**135-139.
- 85. Thomas JE, Dale A, Harding M, Coward WA, Cole TJ, Sullivan PB, Campbell DI, Warren BF, Weaver LT: Interpreting the 13C-urea breath test among a large population of young children from a developing country. *Pediatr Res* 1999, 46:147-151.
- 86. Langat AC, Ogutu E, Kamenwa R, Simiyu DE: **Prevalence of Helicobacter pylori** in children less than three years of age in health facilities in Nairobi Province. *East Afr Med J* 2006, **83**:471-477.
- Lindkvist P, Enquselassie F, Asrat D, Muhe L, Nilsson I, Giesecke J: Risk factors for infection with Helicobacter pylori--a study of children in rural Ethiopia. Scand J Infect Dis 1998, 30:371-376.
- Mbulaiteye SM, Gold BD, Pfeiffer RM, Brubaker GR, Shao J, Biggar RJ, Hisada M: H. pylori-infection and antibody immune response in a rural Tanzanian population. *Infect Agent Cancer* 2006, 1:3.

64

- Holcombe C, Tsimiri S, Eldridge J, Jones DM: Prevalence of antibody to Helicobacter pylori in children in northern Nigeria. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg 1993, 87:19-21.
- Sullivan PB, Thomas JE, Wight DG, Neale G, Eastham EJ, Corrah T, Lloyd-Evans N, Greenwood BM: Helicobacter pylori in Gambian children with chronic diarrhoea and malnutrition. Arch Dis Child 1990, 65:189-191.
- 91. Stray-Pedersen A, Gaustad P, Stray-Pedersen B, Rognum TO: **Detection rate of Helicobacter pylori stool antigen in newborn infants and small children.** J Perinat Med 2007, **35:**155-158.
- 92. Granstrom M, Tindberg Y, Blennow M: Seroepidemiology of Helicobacter pylori infection in a cohort of children monitored from 6 months to 11 years of age. J Clin Microbiol 1997, 35:468-470.
- 93. Grimm W, Fischbach W: [Helicobacter pylori infection in children and juveniles: an epidemiological study on prevalence, socio-economic factors and symptoms]. Dtsch Med Wochenschr 2003, 128:1878-1883.
- 94. Rothenbacher D, Bode G, Berg G, Knayer U, Gonser T, Adler G, Brenner H: Helicobacter pylori among preschool children and their parents: evidence of parent-child transmission. J Infect Dis 1999, 179:398-402.
- 95. Abasiyanik MF, Tunc M, Salih BA: Enzyme immunoassay and immunoblotting analysis of Helicobacter pylori infection in Turkish asymptomatic subjects. *Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis* 2004, **50**:173-177.
- 96. Siai K, Ghozzi M, Ezzine H, Medjahed N, Azzouz MM: **Prevalence and risk** factors of Helicobacter pylori infection in Tunisian children: 1055 children in Cap-Bon (northeastern Tunisia). *Gastroenterol Clin Biol* 2008, 32:881-886.
- 97. Kawakami E, Machado RS, Ogata SK, Langner M: Decrease in prevalence of Helicobacter pylori infection during a 10-year period in Brazilian children. *Arq Gastroenterol* 2008, **45**:147-151.
- Segal I, Otley A, Issenman R, Armstrong D, Espinosa V, Cawdron R, Morshed MG, Jacobson K: Low prevalence of Helicobacter pylori infection in Canadian children: a cross-sectional analysis. Can J Gastroenterol 2008, 22:485-489.
- 99. Tam YH, Yeung CK, Lee KH, Sihoe JD, Chan KW, Cheung ST, Mou JW: A population-based study of Helicobacter pylori infection in Chinese children resident in Hong Kong: prevalence and potential risk factors. *Helicobacter* 2008, 13:219-224.
- 100. Mishra S, Singh V, Rao GR, Dixit VK, Gulati AK, Nath G: Prevalence of Helicobacter pylori in asymptomatic subjects--a nested PCR based study. Infect Genet Evol 2008, 8:815-819.
- 101. Cooke ML, Goddard EA, Brown RA: Endoscopy findings in HIV-infected children from sub-Saharan Africa. *J Trop Pediatr* 2009, **55**:238-243.
- 102. Blecker U, Keymolen K, Lanciers S, Bahwere P, Souayah H, Levy J, Vandenplas Y: The prevalence of Helicobacter pylori positivity in human immunodeficiency virus-infected children. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 1994, 19:417-420.
- 103. Lionetti P, Amarri S, Silenzi F, Galli L, Cellini M, de Martino M, Vierucci A: Prevalence of Helicobacter pylori infection detected by serology and 13C-urea breath test in HIV-1 perinatally infected children. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 1999, 28:301-306.

- Romanelli F, Smith KM, Murphy BS: Does HIV infection alter the incidence or pathology of Helicobacter pylori infection? *AIDS Patient Care STDS* 2007, 21:908-919.
- 105. Olmos M, Araya V, Pskorz E, Quesada EC, Concetti H, Perez H, Cahn P: Coinfection: Helicobacter pylori/human immunodeficiency virus. *Dig Dis Sci* 2004, 49:1836-1839.
- 106. Fernando N, Holton J, Zulu I, Vaira D, Mwaba P, Kelly P: Helicobacter pylori infection in an urban African population. *J Clin Microbiol* 2001, **39**:1323-1327.
- 107. Cataldo F, Simpore J, Greco P, Ilboudo D, Musumeci S: Helicobacter pylori infection in Burkina Faso: an enigma within an enigma. *Dig Liver Dis* 2004, 36:589-593.
- 108. Aguemon BD, Struelens MJ, Massougbodji A, Ouendo EM: Prevalence and riskfactors for Helicobacter pylori infection in urban and rural Beninese populations. Clin Microbiol Infect 2005, 11:611-617.
- 109. Omar AA, Ibrahim NK, Sarkis NN, Ahmed SH: **Prevalence and possible risk** factors of Helicobacter pylori infection among children attending Damanhour Teaching Hospital. *J Egypt Public Health Assoc* 2001, **76:**393-410.
- 110. Ashorn M, Rago T, Kokkonen J, Ruuska T, Rautelin H, Karikoski R: Symptomatic response to Helicobacter pylori eradication in children with recurrent abdominal pain: double blind randomized placebo-controlled trial. *J Clin Gastroenterol* 2004, **38**:646-650.
- 111. Kalach N, Mention K, Guimber D, Michaud L, Spyckerelle C, Gottrand F: Helicobacter pylori infection is not associated with specific symptoms in nonulcer-dyspeptic children. *Pediatrics* 2005, 115:17-21.
- 112. El Mouzan MI, Abdullah AM: Peptic ulcer disease in children and adolescents. J Trop Pediatr 2004, **50:**328-330.
- 113. Muhsen K, Barak M, Henig C, Alpert G, Ornoy A, Cohen D: Is the association between Helicobacter pylori infection and anemia age dependent? *Helicobacter* 2010, 15:467-472.
- 114. Cardenas VM, Mulla ZD, Ortiz M, Graham DY: Iron deficiency and Helicobacter pylori infection in the United States. *Am J Epidemiol* 2006, **163**:127-134.
- 115. Segni M, Borrelli O, Pucarelli I, Delle Fave G, Pasquino AM, Annibale B: Early manifestations of gastric autoimmunity in patients with juvenile autoimmune thyroid diseases. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 2004, **89:**4944-4948.
- 116. Pitkaranta A, Kolho KL, Rautelin H: Helicobacter pylori in children who are prone to upper respiratory tract infections. *Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg* 2005, **131:**256-258.
- 117. Sherman P, Czinn S, Drumm B, Gottrand F, Kawakami E, Madrazo A, Oderda G, Seo JK, Sullivan P, Toyoda S, et al: Helicobacter pylori infection in children and adolescents: Working Group Report of the First World Congress of Pediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology, and Nutrition. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2002, 35 Suppl 2:S128-133.
- 118. Bourke B, Ceponis P, Chiba N, Czinn S, Ferraro R, Fischbach L, Gold B, Hyunh H, Jacobson K, Jones NL, et al: Canadian Helicobacter Study Group Consensus Conference: Update on the approach to Helicobacter pylori infection in children and adolescents--an evidence-based evaluation. Can J Gastroenterol 2005, 19:399-408.

- 119. Fagerhol MK, Dale I, Andersson T: **Release and quantitation of a leucocyte** derived protein (L1). *Scan J Haematol* 1980, 24:393-398.
- 120. Smith VL, Kaetzel MA, Dedman JR: Stimulus-response coupling: the search for intracellular calcium mediator proteins. *Cell Regul* 1990, 1:165-172.
- 121. Brandtzaeg P, Dale I, Fagerhol MK: Distribution of a formalin-resistant myelomonocytic antigen (L1) in human tissues. II. Normal and aberrant occurrence in various epithelia. *Am J Clin Pathol* 1987, **87**:700-707.
- 122. Dale I, Brandtzaeg P, Fagerhol MK, Scott H: Distribution of a new myelomonocytic antigen (L1) in human peripheral blood leukocytes. Immunofluorescence and immunoperoxidase staining features in comparison with lysozyme and lactoferrin. Am J Clin Pathol 1985, 84:24-34.
- 123. Roseth AG, Fagerhol MK, Aadland E, Schjonsby H: Assessment of the neutrophil dominating protein calprotectin in feces. A methodologic study. *Scand J Gastroenterol* 1992, **27**:793-798.
- 124. Johne B, Fagerhol MK, Lyberg T, Prydz H, Brandtzaeg P, Naess-Andresen CF, Dale I: Functional and clinical aspects of the myelomonocyte protein calprotectin. *Mol Pathol* 1997, 50:113-123.
- 125. Fagerberg UL, Loof L, Merzoug RD, Hansson LO, Finkel Y: Fecal calprotectin levels in healthy children studied with an improved assay. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr* 2003, 37:468-472.
- 126. Olafsdottir E, Aksnes L, Fluge G, Berstad A: Faecal calprotectin levels in infants with infantile colic, healthy infants, children with inflammatory bowel disease, children with recurrent abdominal pain and healthy children. *Acta Paediatr* 2002, 91:45-50.
- 127. Savino F, Castagno E, Calabrese R, Viola S, Oggero R, Miniero R: **High Faecal** Calprotectin Levels in Healthy, Exclusively Breast-Fed Infants. *Neonatology* 2009, 97:299-304.
- 128. Josefsson S, Bunn SK, Domellof M: Fecal calprotectin in very low birth weight infants. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2007, 44:407-413.
- 129. Yang Q, Smith PB, Goldberg RN, Cotten CM: Dynamic change of fecal calprotectin in very low birth weight infants during the first month of life. *Neonatology* 2008, **94:**267-271.
- Campeotto F, Butel MJ, Kalach N, Derrieux S, Aubert-Jacquin C, Barbot L, Francoual C, Dupont C, Kapel N: High faecal calprotectin concentrations in newborn infants. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 2004, 89:F353-355.
- 131. Dorosko SM, Mackenzie T, Connor RI: Fecal calprotectin concentrations are higher in exclusively breastfed infants compared to those who are mixed-fed. *Breastfeed Med* 2008, **3**:117-119.
- 132. Dale I: Plasma levels of the calcium-binding L1 leukocyte protein: standardization of blood collection and evaluation of reference intervals in healthy controls. Scand J Clin Lab Invest 1990, 50:837-841.
- 133. Cuida M, Brun JG, Tynning T, Jonsson R: Calprotectin levels in oral fluids: the importance of collection site. *Eur J Oral Sci* 1995, **103**:8-10.
- 134. Brun JG, Haga HJ, Boe E, Kallay I, Lekven C, Berntzen HB, Fagerhol MK: Calprotectin in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: relation to clinical and laboratory variables of disease activity. *J Rheumatol* 1992, **19**:859-862.

- 135. Roseth AG, Aadland E, Jahnsen J, Raknerud N: Assessment of disease activity in ulcerative colitis by faecal calprotectin, a novel granulocyte marker protein. *Digestion* 1997, 58:176-180.
- 136. Bunn S, Bisset M, Main M, Golden B: Faecal calprotectin as a marker of gastrointestinal inflammation during the first year of life (abstract). *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr* 2000, **31(Suppl 2):4**3.
- 137. Bunn SK, Bisset WM, Main MJ, Golden BE: Fecal calprotectin as a measure of disease activity in childhood inflammatory bowel disease. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2001, 32:171-177.
- 138. Flagstad G, Helgeland H, Markestad T: Faecal calprotectin concentrations in children with functional gastrointestinal disorders diagnosed according to the Pediatric Rome III criteria. *Acta Paediatr* 2010, **99**:734-737.
- Berstad A, Arslan G, Folvik G: Relationship between intestinal permeability and calprotectin concentration in gut lavage fluid. Scand J Gastroenterol 2000, 35:64-69.
- Roseth AG, Kristinsson J, Fagerhol MK, Schjonsby H, Aadland E, Nygaard K, Roald B: Faecal calprotectin: a novel test for the diagnosis of colorectal cancer? *Scand J Gastroenterol* 1993, 28:1073-1076.
- 141. Tibble JA, Sigthorsson G, Foster R, Scott D, Fagerhol MK, Roseth A, Bjarnason I: High prevalence of NSAID enteropathy as shown by a simple faecal test. Gut 1999, 45:362-366.
- 142. Kaplan B, Benson J, Rothstein F, Dahms B, Halpin T: Lymphonodular hyperplasia of the colon as a pathologic finding in children with lower gastrointestinal bleeding. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr* 1984, **3**:704-708.
- 143. Kokkonen J, Karttunen TJ: Lymphonodular hyperplasia on the mucosa of the lower gastrointestinal tract in children: an indication of enhanced immune response? *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr* 2002, **34**:42-46.
- 144. Iacono G, Ravelli A, Di Prima L, Scalici C, Bolognini S, Chiappa S, Pirrone G, Licastri G, Carroccio A: Colonic lymphoid nodular hyperplasia in children: relationship to food hypersensitivity. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2007, 5:361-366.
- 145. Bremner A, Roked S, Robinson R, Phillips I, Beattie M: Faecal calprotectin in children with chronic gastrointestinal symptoms. Acta Paediatr 2005, 94:1855-1858.
- 146. Berni Canani R, Rapacciuolo L, Romano MT, Tanturri de Horatio L, Terrin G, Manguso F, Cirillo P, Paparo F, Troncone R: Diagnostic value of faecal calprotectin in paediatric gastroenterology clinical practice. *Dig Liver Dis* 2004, 36:467-470.
- 147. Bennett WE, Gonzalez-Rivera R, Puente BN, Shaikh N, Stevens HJ, Mooney JC, Klein EJ, Denno DM, Draghi A, Sylvester FA, Tarr PI: Proinflammatory fecal mRNA and childhood bacterial enteric infections. *Gut Microbes* 2010, 1:209-212.
- 148. Sweet SP, Denbury AN, Challacombe SJ: Salivary calprotectin levels are raised in patients with oral candidiasis or Sjogren's syndrome but decreased by HIV infection. Oral Microbiol Immunol 2001, 16:119-123.
- 149. Brandtzaeg P, Gabrielsen TO, Dale I, Muller F, Steinbakk M, Fagerhol MK: The leucocyte protein L1 (calprotectin): a putative nonspecific defence factor at epithelial surfaces. *Adv Exp Med Biol* 1995, **371A**:201-206.

- 150. Muller F, Froland SS, Brandtzaeg P, Fagerhol MK: Oral candidiasis is associated with low levels of parotid calprotectin in individuals with infection due to human immunodeficiency virus. *Clin Infect Dis* 1993, **16**:301-302.
- 151. Muller F, Froland SS, Aukrust P, Fagerhol MK: Elevated serum calprotectin levels in HIV-infected patients: the calprotectin response during ZDV treatment is associated with clinical events. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1994, 7:931-939.
- 152. Dunlop O, Bruun JN, Myrvang B, Fagerhol MK: Calprotectin in cerebrospinal fluid of the HIV infected: a diagnostic marker of opportunistic central nervous system infection? *Scand J Infect Dis* 1991, 23:687-689.
- 153. WHO: Interim WHO clinical staging of HIV/AIDS and HIV/AIDS case definitions for surveillance. Geneva, Switzerland: WHO; 2005.
- 154. Uganda MoH: Uganda National Policy Guidelines for HIV Counselling and Testing. Kampala, Uganda; 2003.
- 155. Rothman K: Epidemiology An Introduction. 2002.
- 156. Grimes DA, Schulz KF: Bias and causal associations in observational research. *Lancet* 2002, **359:**248-252.
- 157. Ton H, Brandsnes, Dale S, Holtlund J, Skuibina E, Schjonsby H, Johne B: **Improved** assay for fecal calprotectin. *Clin Chim Acta* 2000, **292:**41-54.
- 158. Johnston AR, Gillespie TR, Rwego IB, McLachlan TL, Kent AD, Goldberg TL: Molecular epidemiology of cross-species Giardia duodenalis transmission in western Uganda. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* 2010, 4:e683.
- 159. Hestvik E, Tylleskar T, Kaddu-Mulindwa DH, Ndeezi G, Grahnquist L, Olafsdottir E, Tumwine JK: Helicobacter pylori in apparently healthy children aged 0-12 years in urban Kampala, Uganda: a community-based cross sectional survey. BMC Gastroenterol 2010, 10:62.
- 160. Panos GZ, Xirouchakis E, Tzias V, Charatsis G, Bliziotis IA, Doulgeroglou V, Margetis N, Falagas ME: Helicobacter pylori infection in symptomatic HIVseropositive and -seronegative patients: a case-control study. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* 2007, 23:709-712.
- 161. Cacciarelli AG, Marano BJ, Jr., Gualtieri NM, Zuretti AR, Torres RA, Starpoli AA, Robilotti JG, Jr.: Lower Helicobacter pylori infection and peptic ulcer disease prevalence in patients with AIDS and suppressed CD4 counts. Am J Gastroenterol 1996, 91:1783-1784.
- 162. Torres J, Perez-Perez G, Goodman KJ, Atherton JC, Gold BD, Harris PR, la Garza AM, Guarner J, Munoz O: A comprehensive review of the natural history of Helicobacter pylori infection in children. *Arch Med Res* 2000, **31**:431-469.
- 163. de Martel C, Parsonnet J: Helicobacter pylori infection and gender: a metaanalysis of population-based prevalence surveys. *Dig Dis Sci* 2006, **51**:2292-2301.
- 164. Malaty HM, Graham DY: Importance of childhood socioeconomic status on the current prevalence of Helicobacter pylori infection. *Gut* 1994, **35**:742-745.
- 165. Nissen AC, van Gils CE, Menheere PP, Van den Neucker AM, van der Hoeven MA, Forget PP: Fecal calprotectin in healthy term and preterm infants. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2004, 38:107-108.
- 166. Carroccio A, Iacono G, Cottone M, Di Prima L, Cartabellotta F, Cavataio F, Scalici C, Montalto G, Di Fede G, Rini G, et al: **Diagnostic accuracy of fecal calprotectin** assay in distinguishing organic causes of chronic diarrhea from irritable bowel

syndrome: a prospective study in adults and children. *Clin Chem* 2003, **49:**861-867.

- 167. Tibble J, Sigthorsson G, Foster R, Sherwood R, Fagerhol M, Bjarnason I: Faecal calprotectin and faecal occult blood tests in the diagnosis of colorectal carcinoma and adenoma. *Gut* 2001, **49**:402-408.
- 168. Hestvik E, Tumwine JK, Tylleskar T, Grahnquist L, Ndeezi G, Kaddu-Mulindwa DH, Aksnes L, Olafsdottir E: Faecal calprotectin concentrations in apparently healthy children aged 0-12 years in urban Kampala, Uganda: a community-based survey. BMC Pediatr 2011, 11:9.
- 169. Hanevik K, Hausken T, Morken MH, Strand EA, Morch K, Coll P, Helgeland L, Langeland N: Persisting symptoms and duodenal inflammation related to Giardia duodenalis infection. J Infect 2007, 55:524-530.
- 170. Herrera V, Parsonnet J: Helicobacter pylori and gastric adenocarcinoma. *Clin Microbiol Infect* 2009, 15:971-976.
- 171. Summerton CB, Longlands MG, Wiener K, Shreeve DR: Faecal calprotectin: a marker of inflammation throughout the intestinal tract. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 2002, 14:841-845.
- 172. Betson M, Sousa-Figueiredo JC, Rowell C, Kabatereine NB, Stothard JR: Intestinal schistosomiasis in mothers and young children in Uganda: investigation of field-applicable markers of bowel morbidity. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* 2010, 83:1048-1055.
- 173. Richter T, List S, Muller DM, Deutscher J, Uhlig HH, Krumbiegel P, Herbarth O, Gutsmuths FJ, Kiess W: Five- to 7-year-old children with Helicobacter pylori infection are smaller than Helicobacter-negative children: a cross-sectional population-based study of 3,315 children. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2001, 33:472-475.
- 174. Akcam M: Helicobacter pylori and micronutrients. *Indian Pediatr* 2010, **47:**119-126.
- 175. Wamani H, Astrom AN, Peterson S, Tumwine JK, Tylleskar T: Boys are more stunted than girls in sub-Saharan Africa: a meta-analysis of 16 demographic and health surveys. *BMC Pediatr* 2007, 7:17.
- 176. Kikafunda JK, Lukwago FB, Turyashemererwa F: Anaemia and associated factors among under-fives and their mothers in Bushenyi district, Western Uganda. *Public Health Nutr* 2009, 12:2302-2308.
- 177. www.aidsuganda.org.